
222

Governance Committee
Monday, 30th July, 2018
at 5.00 pm

PLEASE NOTE TIME OF MEETING
Conference Room 3 - Civic Centre

This meeting is open to the public

Members of the Committee

Councillor Keogh (Chair)
Councillor Harwood
Councillor Kataria
Councillor Noon
Councillor Parnell
Councillor White
Councillor Whitbread

Contacts

Service Director, Legal and Governance
Richard Ivory
Tel. 023 8083 2394
Email: richard.ivory@southampton.gov.uk

Senior Democratic Support Officer
Claire Heather
Tel. 023 8083 2412
Email: claire.heather@southampton.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



2

PUBLIC INFORMATION
Role of the Governance Committee Smoking policy – The Council operates a 

no-smoking policy in all civic buildings.
Mobile Telephones:- Please switch your 
mobile telephones to silent whilst in the 
meeting 
Use of Social Media:- The Council supports 
the video or audio recording of meetings 
open to the public, for either live or 
subsequent broadcast. However, if, in the 
Chair’s opinion, a person filming or recording 
a meeting or taking photographs is 
interrupting proceedings or causing a 
disturbance, under the Council’s Standing 
Orders the person can be ordered to stop 
their activity, or to leave the meeting.

Information regarding the role of the 
Committee’s is contained in Part 2 
(Articles) of the Council’s Constitution.

02 Part 2 - Articles

It includes at least one Councillor from 
each of the political groups represented 
on the Council, and at least one 
independent person, without voting rights, 
who is not a Councillor or an Officer of the 
Council.
Access – Access is available for disabled 
people. Please contact the Democratic 
Support Officer who will help to make any 
necessary arrangements.

Public Representations At the discretion 
of the Chair, members of the public may 
address the meeting on any report included 
on the agenda in which they have a relevant 
interest. Any member of the public wishing to 
address the meeting should advise the 
Democratic Support Officer (DSO) whose 
contact details are on the front sheet of the 
agenda

By entering the meeting room you are 
consenting to being recorded and to the use 
of those images and recordings for 
broadcasting and or/training purposes. The 
meeting may be recorded by the press or 
members of the public.
Any person or organisation filming, recording 
or broadcasting any meeting of the Council 
is responsible for any claims or other liability 
resulting from them doing so.
Details of the Council’s Guidance on the 
recording of meetings is available on the 
Council’s website.

Fire Procedure – in the event of a fire or 
other emergency a continuous alarm will 
sound and you will be advised by Council 
officers what action to take.

The Southampton City Council Strategy 
(2016-2020) is a key document and sets out 
the four key outcomes that make up our 
vision.

 Southampton has strong and 
sustainable economic growth

 Children and young people get a good 
start in life 

 People in Southampton live safe, 
healthy, independent lives

 Southampton is an attractive modern 
City, where people are proud to live 
and work

Dates of Meetings: Municipal Year 
2018/19

2018 2019

11th June 11th February 

30th July 15th April

10th September

12th November

10th December

http://www.southampton.gov.uk/Images/02%20Part%202%20(Articles)_tcm46-262438.pdf
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/Images/Council-strategy-2016-20_tcm63-387729.pdf
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/Images/Council-strategy-2016-20_tcm63-387729.pdf


3

CONDUCT OF MEETING

Terms of Reference Business to be discussed

Only those items listed on the attached 
agenda may be considered at this meeting.

Quorum

The terms of reference of the Governance 
Committee are contained in Part 3 of the 
Council’s Constitution.

03 - Part 3 - Responsibility for Functions
The minimum number of appointed 
Members required to be in attendance to 
hold the meeting is 3.

Rules of Procedure

The meeting is governed by the Council 
Procedure Rules as set out in Part 4 of the 
Constitution.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
Members are required to disclose, in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct, 
both the existence and nature of any “Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” or “Other Interest”  
they may have in relation to matters for consideration on this Agenda.

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS
A Member must regard himself or herself as having a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in 
any matter that they or their spouse, partner, a person they are living with as husband or 
wife, or a person with whom they are living as if they were a civil partner in relation to: 
(i) Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain.
(ii) Sponsorship:
Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from Southampton 
City Council) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any expense 
incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election expenses. 
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning of 
the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.
(iii) Any contract which is made between you / your spouse etc (or a body in which the 
you / your spouse etc has a beneficial interest) and Southampton City Council under 
which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed, and which has 
not been fully discharged.
(iv) Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of Southampton.
(v) Any license (held alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of 
Southampton for a month or longer.
(vi) Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) the landlord is Southampton City Council and 
the tenant is a body in which you / your spouse etc has a beneficial interests.
(vii) Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where that body (to your knowledge) 
has a place of business or land in the area of Southampton, and either:

a) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that body, or

b) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value 
of the shares of any one class in which you / your spouse etc has a beneficial 
interest that exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class.

http://www.southampton.gov.uk/Images/03%20Part%203%20(Responsibility%20for%20Functions)_tcm46-160529.pdf


4

Other Interests

A Member must regard himself or herself as having an, ‘Other Interest’ in any 
membership of, or  occupation of a position of general control or management in:

Any body to which they  have been appointed or nominated by Southampton City Council

Any public authority or body exercising functions of a public nature

Any body directed to charitable purposes

Any body whose principal purpose includes the influence of public opinion or policy

Principles of Decision Making

All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles:-

 proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome);
 due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers;
 respect for human rights;
 a presumption in favour of openness, accountability and transparency;
 setting out what options have been considered;
 setting out reasons for the decision; and
 clarity of aims and desired outcomes.

In exercising discretion, the decision maker must:

 understand the law that regulates the decision making power and gives effect to it.  
The decision-maker must direct itself properly in law;

 take into account all relevant matters (those matters which the law requires the 
authority as a matter of legal obligation to take into account);

 leave out of account irrelevant considerations;
 act for a proper purpose, exercising its powers for the public good;
 not reach a decision which no authority acting reasonably could reach, (also known 

as the “rationality” or “taking leave of your senses” principle);
 comply with the rule that local government finance is to be conducted on an annual 

basis.  Save to the extent authorised by Parliament, ‘live now, pay later’ and forward 
funding are unlawful; and

 act with procedural propriety in accordance with the rules of fairness.



5

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES 

To receive any apologies.

2  DISCLOSURE OF PERSONAL AND PECUNIARY INTERESTS 

In accordance with the Localism Act 2011, and the Council’s Code of Conduct, 
Members to disclose any personal or pecuniary interests in any matter included on the 
agenda for this meeting.

3  STATEMENT FROM THE CHAIR 

4  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (INCLUDING MATTERS ARISING) 
(Pages 1 - 4)

To approve and sign as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 11th June 
2018 and to deal with any matters arising, attached. 

5  FREEDOM OF INFORMATION, DATA PROTECTION & REGULATION OF 
INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACTS: ANNUAL REVIEW 2017-18 (Pages 5 - 18)

Report of Service Director Legal and Governance detailing the Annual Review of 
Freedom of Information, Data Protection and Regulation of Investigatory Powers Acts 
for the year 2017-18.

6  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR 2017/18 (Pages 19 - 152)

Report of the Section 151 Officer detailing the findings of any major changes to the 
Financial Statements 2017/18 arising from the Annual Audit.

7  ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2017-18 (Pages 153 - 170)

Report of the Chief Financial Officer seeking approval of the Council's draft Annual 
Governance Statement 2017-18.

8  EXTERNAL AUDIT - AUDIT RESULTS (Pages 171 - 234)

Report of External Auditor detailing the External Audit Results.

9  ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT OPINION 2017-18 (Pages 235 - 258)

Report of Chief Internal Auditor detailing the Annual Internal Audit Opinion 2017-18.

Friday, 20 July 2018 Service Director, Legal and Governance



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 11 JUNE 2018

Present: Councillors Keogh (Chair), Fielker, Harwood, Kataria, Laurent, Noon and 
White

1. APOLOGIES AND CHANGES IN MEMBERSHIP 
The Committee noted the resignation of Councillor Parnell and the appointment of 
Councillor Laurent in place thereof in accordance with the provisions of Council 
Procedure Rule 4.3. 

2. ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR 
RESOLVED:  Councillor Fielker be appointed as Vice-Chair for the 2018/19 Municipal 
Year. 

3. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (INCLUDING MATTERS ARISING) 
RESOLVED: that the minutes for the Committee meeting on 23rd April 2018 be 
approved and signed as a correct record.

4. ART COMPLEX (STUDIO 144) 
The Committee received and noted the full Internal Audit Report for the Arts Complex 
Project Review (Studio 144) together with the terms of reference for the Capital Board 
which were requested at the previous meeting of the Committee.  The Committee noted 
that the report had provided a number of learning points and changes had been 
implemented as a result of.  In particular it was noted that new governance structures 
for project management were in place with all project managers now requiring to have a 
recognised qualification and this incorporated into job descriptions and review points 
built in at every stage of the project.  The Committee also noted that Internal Audit 
would be monitoring the identified action points and verify that they were in place.

5. INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 2017-18 
The Committee received and noted the report of the Chief Financial Auditor detailing 
the Internal Audit Progress Report for the period 6th April – 30th May 2018.  The 
Committee requested going forward that quarterly comparator figures be incorporated 
into the report. 

6. QUARTERLY HR STATISTICS 
The Committee received and noted the report of the Service Director Human 
Resources and Organisational Development detailing the Quarter 4 2017/18 HR 
statistics.  The Committee requested that going forward numbers of appeals and those 
upheld be included in the statistical data.

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



- 2 -

7. ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
The Committee received and noted the report of the Chief Finance Officer detailing the 
draft 2017-18 Annual Governance Statement as detailed in Appendix 1 of the report.  In 
addition the Committee noted the status of the 2016-17 Annual Governance Statement 
Action Plan.

The Committee requested that an overview and status of future major projects be 
presented to the next meeting of the Committee for information. 

8. REVIEW OF PRUDENTIAL LIMITS AND TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN 
2017/18 
The Committee considered the report of the Service Director Finance and 
Commercialisation (S151 Officer) detailing Treasury Management activities and 
performance for 2017/18 against the approved Prudential Indicators for External Debt 
and Treasury Management. 

The Committee requested going forward that % indicators be provided on what was in 
investments and which was bonds/bricks and mortar and comparator figures where 
these were at and in relation to other Local Authorities.

RESOLVED:-
(i) That the Treasury Management activities for 2017/18 and the outturn on the 

Prudential Indicators be noted;
(ii) That the continued proactive approach to Treasury Management had led to 

reductions in borrowing costs and safeguarded investment income during the 
year; 

(iii) That authority continued to be delegated to the S151 Officer to make any 
future changes which benefited the Authority and to report back at the next 
Treasury Update; and 

(iv) That due to the timing of the report, changes may still be required following 
the finalisation of capital and revenue budgets and therefore any significant 
changes to the report would be highlighted in the final version presented to 
Full Council on 18th July 2018 be noted.

9. DRAFT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2017/18 
The Committee received and noted the report of the Service Director Finance and 
Commercialisation (S151 Officer) detailing that in accordance with the Accounts and 
Audit Regulations 2015 the Draft Financial Statements 2017/18 had been signed by the 
S151 Officer and that the approval of the audited Financial Statements 2017/18 by the 
Governance Committee would take place on 30th July 2018.

10. EXTERNAL AUDIT FEE LETTER 2018/19 
The Committee received and noted the report of the External Auditor detailing the 
External Audit Fee Letter for year ending 31st March 2019 as indicated in Appendix 1 of 
the report.

11. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND THE PUBLIC 
RESOLVED: that the Chair moved in accordance with the Council's Constitution, 
specifically the Access to Information Procedure Rules contained within the 

Page 2



- 3 -

Constitution, the press and public be excluded from the meeting in respect of the 
Appendix to the following item. 

Confidentiality was based on Category 7(A) of paragraph 10.4 of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules. The information contained therein was potentially exempt 
as it related to information about Council contracts and contractors which may be 
deemed to be confidential.  Having applied the public interest test it was not appropriate 
to disclose this information as the legal expectation of privacy outweighed the public 
interest in the exempt information.

12. STRATEGIC CONTRACTS – ANNUAL REPORT (2017/18) 
The Committee considered the Annual Report 2017/18 detailing an overview of the 
performance, governance and contractual matters and setting out how these contracts 
contributed to meeting the Priority Outcomes, added value to the Council’s operations 
and achieved value for money.

The Committee requested that the “Capita” turnaround plan be submitted to a future 
meeting of the Committee and also requested that Annual Review of Children’s and 
Adult Social Care Contracts were provided to the Committee similarly to the way in 
which the Strategic Contracts were presented.

RESOLVED: that the Strategic Contract Annual Report as detailed in the confidential 
appendix to the report be noted

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



DECISION-MAKER: GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
SUBJECT: FREEDOM OF INFORMATION, DATA PROTECTION & 

REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACTS: 
ANNUAL REVIEW 2017-18

DATE OF DECISION: 30th JULY 2018
REPORT OF: Service Director: Legal and Governance

CONTACT DETAILS
AUTHOR: Name: TRACY HORSPOOL Tel: 023 8083 2027

E-mail: Tracy.horspool@southampton.gov.uk
Director Name: RICHARD IVORY Tel: 023 8083 2794

E-mail: Richard.ivory@southampton.gov.uk

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
None
BRIEF SUMMARY
A report detailing the statistical information for the financial year 2017-18, the thirteenth year 
of implementation of the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) and associated legislation. This 
report also details statistical information on requests received under the Data Protection Act 
1998 (DPA98) and the Council’s activity under the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 
2000 (RIPA). Members are also made aware of the implementation of new Data Protection 
legislation in May 2018, the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the Data 
Protection Act 2018 (DPA18), and the impact on the Council.
RECOMMENDATIONS:

(i) To note and comment on the update of the statistical information for the 
year 1st April 2017 – 31st March 2018 relating to:

 FOIA and associated legislation
 DPA 1998
 RIPA 2000

(ii) To note the impact of the now in force GDPR and DPA18 on the Council
REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS
1. To keep Members informed as to the impact of the legislation to the Council and to 

detail the form and type of requests received in 2017-18, the thirteenth full year of 
FOIA implementation.

2. To keep Members informed as to the type of DPA 98 requests received and the 
Council’s activity under the RIPA.

3. To ensure that Members continue to be aware of the Council’s statutory obligations
4. To ensure that Members are kept informed as to new legislation in the field of 

information law, preparations that are being made and the likely impact on the Council.
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED
5. The alternative to bringing this report before members is to not report the yearly 

analysis. This was rejected because it is considered to be good governance to report 
such matters to Members, provides an audit trail to demonstrate to the Information 
Commissioner that the Council has a robust structure in place to comply with the 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



legislation, and to maintain the profile of information law requirements and resource 
implication within the organisation.

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out)
6. This report will be published on the Council’s website

FOIA
7. The FOIA came fully into force on 1st January 2005, marking a major enhancement to 

the accessibility of information held by public authorities.
8. Running parallel to the FOI regime is the Environmental Information Regulations 

(EIRs) that give a separate right to request environmental information from public 
authorities, the DPA98, which gives the individual the right to access their own 
personal data, and the Re-Use of Public Sector Information Regulations (RUPSIRs) 
which allow a requester to re-use (under licence) information provided to them by a 
public authority.

9. Under the FOIA and associated legislation, anybody may request information from 
a public authority with functions in England, Wales and/or Northern Ireland. Subject 
to exemptions, the FOIA confers two statutory rights on applicants:

(i) The right to be told whether or not the public authority holds that 
information; and

(ii) The right to have that information communicated to them
10. There are two types of exemptions that may apply to requests for information – 

absolute and qualified.
11. Information that falls into a particular exemption category, for example information 

relating to commercial interests, will have to be disclosed unless it can be successfully 
argued that the public interest in withholding it is greater than the public interest in 
releasing it. Such exemptions are known as qualified exemptions.

12. Where information falls within the terms of an absolute exemption, for example, 
information reasonably accessible by other means or information contained in court 
records, a public authority may withhold the information without considering any public 
interest arguments.

13. The Council has now experienced the thirteenth full year of the FOIA and statistics 
continue to show a slight decrease in the number of information (FOI/EIR) requests 
received

197
271

388
486

694 761

978 936

1337
1441

1372 1412 1397

2005-06

2006-07

2007-08

2008-09

2009-10

2010-11

2011-12

2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

FOI / EIR Requests Received

Page 6



14. The number has decreased from 1412 for the year to 1397, which follows a trend 
that suggest the Council has reached a plateau for request received.

The service area breakdown of the requests is as follows:

Directorate No. Rec'd % Days
Svc Director Transactions & Universal Services 261 83.9 12.7
Svc Director Growth 241 88.4 9.6
Svc Director Children & Families 214 66.8 19.9
Svc Director Housing, Adults & Communities 210 82.9 14.2
Svc Director Strategic Finance & 
Commercialisation 147 88.4 10.9
Svc Director Digital & Business Operations 119 74.8 18.1
Svc Director HR and Organisational 
Development 71 64.8 21.8
Svc Director Legal & Governance 66 90.9 9.8
Svc Director Public Health 32 68.8 18.6
Svc Director Intelligence, Insight & 
Communications 26 92.3 8.3
Director of Quality & Integration 10 80.0 12.2
Grand Total 1397 80.7 14.3

To summarise, the Council has received a total of 1397 requests between 1st April 
2017 and 31st March 2018. This comprises 1384 dealt with as FOI requests and 13 
EIR requests.

15. 2017/18 has seen an overall decrease in the volume of requests received in 
comparison to previous years. The average number of requests received per month 
was 116, compared with 117 last year.

16. During the year, 80.7% of all monitored FOI and EIR requests (excluding those ‘on 
hold’ or lapsed) were dealt with within the statutory deadline of 20 working days. This 
is an increase on the previous year, and is due to measures put in place to address the 
low compliance rate last year.

Page 7



96.5 95.6 97.7 94.7 90.2 91.5 96.2 96.5 98.4 96.1
89.3

71.1
80.7

2005-06

2006-07

2007-08

2008-09

2009-10

2010-11

2011-12

2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

% FOI / EIR answered within 20 working 
days

17. Business Support employed a dedicated member of staff to co-ordinate FOI 
responses. This saw compliance rates improve over the year, ending with 86.1% for 
Q4.

18. The overall response time has also been improved, with the Council responding to 
requests within 9.2 days on average. 

10.7 11.1 11.8 11.2
12.4 12.4

11.1 11.7 11.6 12.3
13.4

18.4

14.3

2005-06

2006-07

2007-08

2008-09

2009-10

2010-11

2011-12

2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

Average Days Taken to Respond

19. Under FOIA, where the cost of responding to the request will exceed the Freedom 
of Information and Data Protection (Appropriate Limit and Fees) Regulations 2004 
(which is currently set at £450 for local authorities), the Council may refuse to 
comply with it. For 2017/18, the Council issued 74 Refusal Notices on fees 
grounds, which represents an increase, with 61 being issued last year.

20. Of all requests received during the year, 68% of information requested was 
disclosed in full. Of the remaining requests, 4% of information was not held by the 
Council, 9% were partly responded to by the Council (i.e. some parts of the request 
were subject to an exemption), and 8% were completely refused as information 
was withheld because a fees notice was issued or it was exempt (e.g. requests for 
personal information such as individual/contact details or confidential/commercially 
sensitive contract or financial information). The remaining 11% of the requests 
were withdrawn or lapsed (the requester did not respond to a request for 

Page 8



clarification after 3 months had passed).

Fully 
Responded

Information not 
held

Part disclosure

Refused

Withdrawn

REQUEST OUTCOME

21. 21 individuals requested internal reviews regarding decisions made to withhold, 
partially withhold information requested, or where they were generally unhappy 
with how their request was handled.

22. This year, there has been one occasion where an appeal was made to the ICO as 
a result of the Council’s decision in respect of their internal review.

23. As with all years, types of requests have been varied and covered every service 
area of the Council, including budget, HR, council tax and business rates data, 
schools, highways maintenance, and social services.
The top ten request subjects ranked in order of popularity are as follows:

Service Area Requests
Corporate Planning and Commercialisation - Business rates 94
Education and Early Help - Schools 55
HR Operations - Human resources 49
Council Housing and Neighbourhoods - Housing 46
Strategic IT & Digital Client - Information communication 
technology 37
Assessment, support Planning Options - Homelessness and 
prevention 32
Planning, Infrastructure and Development - Planning services 30
Legal Partnership Services - Data protection and freedom of 
information 27
Planning, Infrastructure and Development - Highway 
maintenance 27
Children’s Social Care - Children and young people social care 27

24. For the period covered in this report, 62% of requests came from private citizens, 
14% came from companies/businesses, 12% from the media. The remaining 12% 
came from a combination of charities, students, researchers, lobby groups, MPs / 

Page 9



Members and other Councils etc.
25. Previously, Members requested information as to how much time and resources 

each Service spends on dealing with requests. We do not record this information. 
Previous years (2011/12) have shown that it took Corporate Legal approximately 2 
hours to respond to each request. However, current research from Parliamentary 
post-legislative scrutiny of the Act indicates “the best-performing local authorities 
took between one and six hours for each request”. We can estimate that our time 
spend on requests is comparable to this, and using the £25 per hour rate that the 
Act allows us to charge for staff time when refusing requests, we can estimate that 
each request costs the Council between £25 and £150 to respond on average.

26. As Corporate Legal accurately time record we are able to detail how much time it 
takes to log, monitor, and give advice on requests. For 2017/18, the average time 
taken per request was 1.2 hours. Most requests take around half an hour to action 
within the Corporate Legal Team but, where detailed exemptions and redactions 
are needed, this can increase time taken on a single request for very complex 
cases. For example, the Corporate Legal time spent over 43 hours on one single 
request in 2017-18. The average therefore predominantly represents the time 
taken for detailed application of legal tests to requests where the Council seeks to 
withhold certain information from release.

27. It should be stressed that this figure does not include the time taken for Business 
Support or the service areas to locate, collate, and send out the information 
requested and the Council does not have a mechanism for capturing that resource 
cost (which comprises the bulk of any cost to the Council).

28. In the Corporate Legal team there are now 2 FTE member of staff dedicated to 
providing advice and monitoring compliance with information law. We have added 
a Modern Apprentice post to the Corporate Legal Team, to assist in the 
administration of information law matters, but this is a “trainee” post, and requires 
considerable support and training alongside their contribution to workloads and is 
supported by day release to college during term time. Other members of Legal 
Services and an innovative intern scheme with local and regional universities 
support this function when their capacity allows it.
DATA PROTECTION ACT 1998

29. The Data Protection Act 1998 (DPA98) gave individuals the right to know what 
information is held about them and provides a framework to ensure that personal 
information is handled properly

30. Under the DPA, an individual is entitled to access personal data, held by an 
organisation, of which that individual is the data subject. Such requests for 
information are known as subject access requests. Whilst the DPA98 was 
replaced by the GDPR and DPA2018 in May 2018, such requests were dealt with 
under the DPA1998 for 2017-18.

31. For the year 2017/18, the Council received 130 subject access requests compared 
with 145 last year. A proportion of these were dealt under the corporate 
procedures, but requests relating to closed social services (Adult Services and 
Children and Families requests) were processed by the Customer Relations Team, 
with support from the Corporate Legal Team where appropriate

Page 10



15 13
25 28

64

114

208

178

145
130

2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18

No. of Subject Access Requests

32. 95.4.0% of the Subject Access Requests were responded within the 
statutory timescales of 40 calendar days compared with 79.0% last year.

53.3% 53.9%

76.0%

89.3%
95.3%

88.6% 88.7% 85.4%
79.0%

95.4%

2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18

SARs responded to within 40 calendar days

33. The Directorate breakdown is as follows:

No. 
Rec'd %

Days

Svc Director Children & Families 47 97.9% 28.1
Svc Director Legal & Governance 29 93.1% 25.9
Svc Director Housing, Adults & Communities 27 92.6% 33.9
On hold - awaiting allocation 12 100.0% N/A
Svc Director HR and Organisational 
Development 6 100.0% 30.3
Svc Director Transactions & Universal 
Services 5 100.0% 4.5

Page 11



Svc Director Strategic Finance & 
Commercialisation 2 100.0% 27.0
Svc Director Digital & Business Operations 1 0.0% 82.0
Svc Director Growth 1 100.0% N/A
Grand Total 130 95.4% 29.0

34. 12 of the requests were not allocated to a directorate, as it was not clear from the 
request which service area held the information, and clarification from the 
requester was not received

35. 2017-18 saw the Council’s highest compliance rate for responding to SARs for 10 
years, and is the first full year that the Corporate Legal team have been 
responsible for the co-ordination of requests.

36. 3 individuals requested internal reviews regarding decisions made to withhold, 
partially withhold information requested, or where they were generally unhappy 
with how their request was handled.

37. There was 1 occasion where the ICO contacted the Council in light of data 
protection concerns they had about how personal information was handled.
The concerns raised were in relation to a delay in processing the SAR.

38. The concerns were investigated by the Corporate Legal team, and their findings 
relayed to the ICO. The ICO considered that no further action was necessary as 
the Council has put into action an adequate and robust remediation plan to ensure 
that such errors do not reoccur.

39. Sometimes there is a requirement to disclose personal data which might otherwise 
be in breach of the DPA. Where an exemption from the non-disclosure provisions 
applies, such disclosure is not in breach of the DPA. Examples of exemptions 
include section 29 (the crime and taxation exemption) and section 35 (disclosures 
required by law or made in connection with legal proceedings). Such requests are 
typically made to the Council by regulatory authorities such as the police, the 
Department of Work and Pensions and so on as part of their investigations.

40. For the year 2017/18 the Council received 448 requests for data from such third 
party organisations compared to 636 in the previous year. This is a decrease from 
last year, but still above the yearly average.

366

248 275 273
332 349

536

928

636

448

2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18

No. of Third Party Requests Received

Page 12



41. In addition to these requests, the CCTV control room (City Watch) and Licensing 
Team received 1032 and 173 third party requests respectively (the majority of the 
Licensing requests were for footage from the vehicle Taxi Cameras). These 
requests are regulated by information sharing agreements, which removes the 
requirement to have each one authorised by Corporate Legal.

42. The Corporate Legal team also monitor and authorise requests from internal 
Services to re-use personal information already held by the Council. Such 
requests are commonly made where personal information is necessary when 
taking enforcement action, performing a statutory function, or improving the 
efficiency of Council services.

43. In 2017/18, 73 requests were processed, with CCTV footage being the most 
common source of information (38% of requests), and Council Tax being the next 
(16%).

18

97

67
74 73

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18

Re-Use of Council Information Requests

DATA SECURITY INCIDENTS
44. During 2017-18, 90 data security incidents were reported to the Corporate Legal 

team. 69% of these were determined to be data breaches upon investigation, with 
the most common cause being data sent electronically to incorrect recipients.

45. 3 of the data breaches were considered sufficiently serious to be reported to the 
Information Commissioner’s Office. The details are these are as follows:

 An employee accessed information held by the Council without a 
legitimate reason to do so

 A spreadsheet containing sensitive personal data was disclosed in error 
as part of an FOI response.

A spreadsheet containing sensitive personal data was published on the Council’s 
website as part of its transparency obligations.

46. In all cases, the ICO considered that no further action was necessary as the Council 
has put into action adequate and robust remediation plans to ensure that such errors 
do not reoccur.
NHS TOOLKIT

47. In order to share information with our health partners, the Council has to provide 
annual assurance as to the standard of its information governance compliance. In Page 13



the absence of any service information governance lead, the Corporate Legal Team 
assumed short term responsibility for collation of the Toolkit evidence this year and, 
with input from the Caldicott Guardians and relevant service areas, the annual 
submission was made before the 31st March deadline. The Council is assessed at 
being 84% compliant and has achieved level 2 status as previously. Last year’s 
score was 82%. Level 3 status is the highest assessment level and remains an 
aspiration.
RIPA

48. Under RIPA, the Council as a public authority is permitted to carry out directed 
surveillance, the use of covert human intelligence sources and to obtain 
communications data if it is both necessary for the purpose of preventing or 
detecting crime and/or disorder and the proposed form and manner of the activity is 
proportionate to the alleged offence.

49. There were no authorisations made under RIPA in 2017-18. This mirrors the 
position last year.

23

29
26

31
34

25

40

13
11

5
1 0 0 0

2004-05

2005-06

2006-07

2007-08

2008-09

2009-10

2010-11

2011-12

2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

RIPA Authorisations

50. As previously reported, the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 is now in force, and 
this makes it a requirement for judicial approval for surveillance activities through 
application to the Magistrate Courts, therefore imposing a higher threshold for use. 
As such, there has been a significant decrease in applications made by the Council 
(and indeed all Councils).

51. Examples of activity authorised in previous years include covert surveillance of a 
victim’s home to detect acts of criminality, directed surveillance of individuals who 
were involved in fraudulent activities and a Covert Human Intelligence Source 
(‘CHIS’) was used to form an online relationship with a suspect to make a test 
purchase of suspected counterfeit goods.

52. The Council is required to formally appoint a ‘Senior Responsible Officer’ for RIPA. 
The Service Director; Legal & Governance is the officer who undertakes this role. 
The Senior Responsible Officer has responsibility for maintaining the central record 
of authorisations; the integrity of the RIPA process within his authority; compliance 
with the Act and Codes of Practice; oversight of the reporting errors to the 
Surveillance Commissioner; engagement with inspectors from the Office of 
Surveillance Commissioners and implementation of any subsequent action plan.

Page 14



53. Training for Council officers involved in RIPA processes is regularly undertaken and 
is delivered by the Corporate Legal Team. Our documentation, procedures and 
training are also used as ‘best practice’ by a number of other local authorities and 
we regularly provide training for partner authorities on request.

54. The Office of Surveillance Commissioners carried out an inspection of the 
Council’s management of covert activities in 2016. In his report, the Chief 
Surveillance Inspector, the Rt Hon. Lord Judge noted:
“It is clear that the City Council takes care to address its statutory responsibilities, 
and that the arrangements for compliance are in experienced, capable hands. From 
the discussions after the inspection, Sir David [Sir David Clarke, Assistant 
Surveillance Commissioner] was impressed with the positive approach to their 
responsibilities taken by Mr Ivory and Miss Horspool”
GDPR

55. The last annual governance report t highlighted the additional pressures that the 
Council will face with the implementation of the General Data Protection 
Regulation in May 2018. The GDPR came into force on 25th May 2018, and is 
supplemented by the Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA18).

56. The headline changes for the Council introduced by the GDPR and DPA18 are as 
follows:

 The appointment of a Data Protection Officer (DPO) is mandatory
 Establishment of an IG framework of senior management 

accountability and evidence of compliance
 The introduction of a tiered approach to penalties for breaches and 

increased fine levels. Tier 2 fines to be up to 4% of annual turnover or 
20,000,000 euros (whichever is the higher)

 As well as administrative fines, data subjects now have a right to 
compensation

 More onerous data breach notification requirements with a lower 
self- reporting threshold

 The definition of personal data is wider, bringing more data (and 
consequently more areas of Council work) into the regulated 
perimeter

 The introduction of mandatory privacy impact assessments
57. The Information Governance Board approved a rolling 18 month IG action plan 

which incorporated all the necessary actions arising from the GDPR. The 
corporate actions were picked up by the Corporate Legal Team, and the 
Information Asset Owners (IAOs) were responsible for any service specific 
actions.

58. Whilst the Corporate Legal team attended Leadership Groups in May 2017, 
October 2017 and April 2018 to make IAOs aware of the service specific 
requirements, and the Data Protection Officer attended a number of team 
meetings briefing managers on GDPR, it was clear that the service areas were 
struggling to find the resources to fully prepare for implementation.

59. As such, 5 full time “GDPR Champions” were deployed into service areas in April 
2018 to assist them with the more practical elements of the GDPR preparations. 
Adults, Housing, and Children each had their own dedicated champion, with the 
remaining 2 champions providing support for the remaining services

60. During their time with the Council, the champions reviewed nearly 700 forms to 
Page 15



ensure they were compliant with the requirements under the GDPR, as well has 
conducting high level information audits of nearly 800 information assets. They 
also assisted the service areas in ensuring contract amendments were sent to 
suppliers and contractors, so that the agreements contained the clauses and 
obligations required under GDPR.

61. The Corporate Legal team alone spent over 1200 hours in ensuring the corporate 
measures required for GDPR were in place, and providing advice and guidance to 
service areas. This time equates to nearly £55,000.

62. The implementation date of 25th May 2018 is not an end point, however, and it’s 
very much the beginning. There is still a great deal of work still to be done, and 
two of the GDPR champions have been retained to assist the Council in 
populating its Record of Processing Activities, which is a legal requirement under 
the GDPR

63. The implications of the GDPR have not yet fully been realised, and the 
Council is still monitoring the following areas:

 Whether the number of SARs will increases due to the removal of 
the £10 fee that the DPA98 allowed data controllers to charge for 
processing such requests.

 How compliance is affected by the reduction in the statutory 
timescale for processing SARs (40 calendar days to one calendar 
month)

 Whether there will be an increase in individuals wanted to exercise 
their new and improved rights with regard to their personal data

The Council’s ability to meet the timescales for reporting serious data breaches to 
the ICO (72 hours).

64. Due to the vast number of services the Council provides, and large volume of 
personal data processed, preparations for GDPR have been challenging. 
However, the measures put in place as a result of the Information Commissioner’s 
Office audit carried out in 2016 gave the Council a good foundation to build on, 
and it can give acceptable assurance with regard to complying with the new data 
protection legislation.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
Capital/Revenue 
65. None directly related to this report. The administration of information law within the 

authority is managed within corporate overheads, but ensuring that the Council 
performs to an acceptable information governance standard and complies with the 
new statutory standards imposed by the GDPR and DPA18 places increased pressure 
on finite and already stretched resources.

Property/Other
66. None directly related to the report.
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report: 
67. The statutory obligations relating to information law are detailed in the body of this 

report.
Other Legal Implications: 
68. None directly related to this report.

Page 16



RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS
69. The potential impact of the decision in terms of finance, service delivery and reputation 

is considered to be low. Although the report does highlight potential future pressures 
on service delivery with the advent of the GDPR, the decision of members in this 
report is to note the performance of the Council in terms of information governance for 
2017-18.

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS
70. The information contained in this report is consistent with and not contrary to the 

Council’s policy framework.

KEY DECISION? No
WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: none

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION

Appendices  None
1. None 
Documents In Members’ Rooms None
1. None 
Equality Impact Assessment 
Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality and
Safety Impact Assessment (ESIA) to be carried out.

No

Data Protection Impact Assessment
Do the implications/subject of the report require a Data Protection 
Impact Assessment (DPIA) to be carried out.  

No

Other Background Documents None
Other Background documents available for inspection at:
Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 

Information Procedure Rules / 
Schedule 12A allowing document to 
be Exempt/Confidential (if applicable)

1. None 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



DECISION-MAKER: GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
SUBJECT: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2017/18
DATE OF DECISION: 30 JULY 2018 
REPORT OF: SECTION 151 OFFICER

CONTACT DETAILS
AUTHOR: Name: Stephanie Skivington Tel: 023 80 832692

E-mail: Stephanie.Skivington@southampton.gov.uk

Director Name: Mel Creighton Tel: 023 80 834897
E-mail: Mel.creighton@southampton.gov.uk

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
NOT APPLICABLE

BRIEF SUMMARY
In accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 the Financial Statements 
2017/18 were signed by the Section 151 (S151) Officer on 8 May 2018 which is earlier 
than the statutory requirement to have the statements signed by 31 May. A copy of the 
latest Financial Statements is available in the Members Room. 
The year-end audit, carried out by our auditors Ernst & Young, commenced on 21 
May 2018 and is due to be completed prior to this meeting. This report details the 
findings to date, noted in the draft annual report of any major changes to the Financial 
Statements arising from the annual audit. Any further changes, identified on 
submission of the final audit report, which is expected prior to this meeting, will be 
presented at this meeting.

RECOMMENDATIONS:
That Governance:

(i) Notes the changes to the Financial Statements 2017/18 as a result 
of the annual audit as detailed in paragraphs 5 to 8 and appendix 1.

(ii) Approves the audited Financial Statements 2017/18.
(iii) Receives a report from management, at a future date, regarding the 

plans being put in place to address the value for money conclusion.
REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS
1. It is a legal requirement that the Statement of Accounts 2017/18 is considered 

and approved by this committee and signed by the person presiding at this 
meeting by 31 July 2018.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED
2. The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with statutory 

requirements. No other options have been considered as it is a legal 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



requirement that the Financial Statements are prepared, and signed by the 
person presiding at this meeting, no later than 31 July 2018.

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out)
CONSULTATION

3. Not applicable.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. The Financial Statements are a complex document and the layout and 
information provided are defined by statutory requirements. The key issues 
that should be drawn to the attention of Committee were presented at its 
meeting on 11 June 2018. A copy of this is available in the Members Room or 
by following the link below.

Governance Committee 11 June 2018

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AMENDMENTS
5. The Financial Statements for 2017/18 have been completed earlier this year 

in recognition that it is now a legal requirement to have the accounts certified 
by 31 May and audited by 31 July. Southampton City Council produced their 
reports ahead of this timeframe with the draft accounts being signed on the 8th 
May, releasing staff to work alongside other council officers on 2018/19 
financial position. The draft annual report includes a number of adjustments, 
none of which change the overall bottom line position for the Council for 
2017/18.

6. There were no material misstatements to the accounts, however there were a 
number of other minor numerical and typographical changes to the Draft 
Financial Statements signed by the S151 Officer on 8 May 2018.

7. The latest Financial Statements, along with full details of changes made, are 
available in the Members Room. The main adjustments to the statements are 
outlined below, with further details in Appendix 1:

 Reclassification of a property from Investment Property to Property, 
Plant & Equipment and consequential change to the basis of valuation.

 Correction for transposition of prior year figures for Finance and 
Leader’s portfolios in the Expenditure and Funding Analysis (EFA) and 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES);

 Amendment to add earmarked reserves movement to Other Income & 
Expenditure in the EFA;

 Adjustment to EFA and CIES for removal of internal recharges for 
investment property not required to be applied to Leader’s Portfolio;

 For the note on exit packages, amendment to the number and total 
cost of exit packages disclosed in each band;

 Additional information provided for the prior period adjustment of the 
leases note;

 For the cash and cash equivalents note, amendment to separately 
disclose Call Accounts from those for Money market Funds. 
Consequential amendments to the Financial Instruments note.

Page 20

http://www.southampton.gov.uk/modernGov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=514&MId=3802&Ver=4


8. The full details of adjustments to the statements and notes are detailed in 
Appendix 1. 

9. Audit Conclusion
Elsewhere on the agenda the report of the external auditor, EY, details their 
findings and opinions on both the statement of accounts and the 
arrangements in place to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the 
council’s use of resources (known as the Value for Money conclusion).
The statement of accounts have received an unqualified opinion (subject to 
the final pieces of work being completed). 
The Value for money conclusion is a positive one with the exception of a 
couple of items. This is detailed in the External auditors report. Management 
have already started drawing up plans to address this and we would 
recommend that governance committee receive a report at a later date to 
review these plans.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
Capital/Revenue 
10. The capital and revenue implications were considered as part of the General 

Fund Capital Outturn report and the General Fund Revenue outturn report 
that were presented to Council on 18 July 2018.

Property/Other
11. A property has been reclassified from Investment Property to Property, Plant 

& Equipment. This has no effect on the resources available to the Council.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report: 
12. Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.

Other Legal Implications: 
13. None.

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS
14. Not applicable
POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS
15. Not applicable. It should be note that the Financial Statements have been 

prepared in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the UK 2017/18.

Page 21



KEY DECISION? Yes/No
WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED:

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION

Appendices 
1. Revisions made to the Statement of Accounts 2017/18
2.
Documents In Members’ Rooms
1. Latest amended Financial Statements 2017/18
2.

Page 22



Equality Impact Assessment 
Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality and
Safety Impact Assessment (ESIA) to be carried out.

Yes/No

Privacy Impact Assessment
Do the implications/subject of the report require a Privacy Impact
Assessment (PIA) to be carried out.  

Yes/No

Other Background Documents
Other Background documents available for inspection at:
Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 

Information Procedure Rules / Schedule 
12A allowing document to be 
Exempt/Confidential (if applicable)

1.
2.

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



1 Reclassification of a property
from Investment Property (IP)
to Property, Plant &
Equipment (PPE) and
consequential change in
basis of valuation. £28.806M
transferred from IP to PPE,
reversal of £28.461M
downward movement in fair
value of investment property,
£1,634M revaluation increase
for PPE and £0.681M
depreciation charge.

23 EFA Expenditure and Funding Analysis
Adjustments between

the Funding and
Accounting Basis

Net Expenditure in the
Comprehensive

Income and
Expenditure Statement

£000 £000
Original:
Communities, Culture & Leisure 2,714 6,941
Other Income & Expenditure (20,949) (182,154)

Revised:
Communities, Culture & Leisure 3,395 7,622
Other Income & Expenditure 38,019 211,739
(including amendments noted at 3 and 4 below)

24 CIES Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
Expenditure Income Net

£000 £000 £000
Original:
Communities, Culture & Leisure 11,117 (4,176) 6,941
Income and Expenditure in relation to Investment
Properties and changes in their fair value

29,002 (9,280) 19,722

Deficit/(Surplus) on revaluation of non current
assets

(4,859)

Revised:
Communities, Culture & Leisure 11,798 4,176 7,622
Income and Expenditure in relation to
Investment Properties and changes in their fair
value

(583) (9,280) (9,863)

(including amendment noted at 4 below)
Deficit/(Surplus) on revaluation of non current
assets

(6,493)

25 MIRS Movement in Reserves Statement
General Fund Balance Unusable Reserves

£000 £000
Original:

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 27,689 22,866
Adjustments between accounting basis and
funding basis under regulations

(40,204) 19,990

Revised:
Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (91) 21,232

Adjustments between accounting basis and
funding basis under regulations

(12,424) (7,790)

26 BS Balance Sheet
Original: Revised:

31-Mar-18 31-Mar-18
£000 £000

Property, Plant & Equipment 1,322,861 1,352,620
Investment Properties 125,412 125,067
Revaluation Reserves (331,976) (333,578)
Capital Adjustment Account (832,195) (860,007)

27 CFS Cash Flow Statement
Original: Revised:

£000 £000
Net surplus or (deficit) on the provision of services (1,235) 26,545

Adjustment to surplus or deficit on the provision of
services for non cash movements

120,059 92,279

46 Note 8 a) Notes to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis
Adjustments between Funding and Accounting Basis 2017/18

Adjustments for
Capital Purposes

Total Adjustments

£'000 £'000
Original:
Communities, Culture & Leisure 2,684 2,714
Other Income & Expenditure (6,259) (20,949)

Revised:
Communities, Culture & Leisure 3,365 3,395
Other Income & Expenditure (34,720) (38,019)
(including amendments noted at 3 and 4 below)

48 Note 8 b) Notes to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis

Analysis of income and expenditure by nature
Original: Revised:

£000 £000
Depreciation, amortisation, impairments and
revaluations

76,716 48,936

52 Note 10 Adjustments Between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis Under Regulations

General Fund Balance Unusable Reserves

£000 £000
Original:
Depreciation and revaluation of Non Current
Assets

(41,647) 49,481

Movement on Market Value of Investment
Properties

(26,212) 26,053

Revisions made to Statement of Accounts 

Ref No Description Page New Note
/Paragraph

Detail

Page 25

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



Revised:
Depreciation and revaluation of Non Current
Assets

(42,328) 50,162
Movement on Market Value of Investment
Properties

2,249 (2,408)

55 Note 12 Property Plant and Equipment (PPE)
Other Land &

Buildings
£000

Original:
Cost or Valuation:
Revaluation Increases/(decreases) recognised in
the Revaluation Reserve

1,517

Other Reclassifications (5,479)
Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment:
Depreciation Charge (13,856)

Revised:
Cost or Valuation:
Revaluation Increases/(decreases) recognised
in the Revaluation Reserve

3,151
Other Reclassifications 23,327
Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment:
Depreciation Charge (14,537)

58 Note 14 Investment Properties
£000

Original:
Income and expense:
Net (Gains)/Losses from fair value adjustments 26,053

Movement in fair value:
Net gains/(losses) from fair value adjustments (26,053)
Transfers (to)/from Property, Plant and Equipment 30,641

Revised:
Income and expense:
Net (Gains)/Losses from fair value adjustments (2,408)

Movement in fair value:
Net gains/(losses) from fair value adjustments 2,408
Transfers (to)/from Property, Plant and
Equipment

1,835

72 Note 22 a) Revaluation Reserve
Original: Revised:

£000 £000
Upward revaluations of assets (4,859) (6,493)
Difference between fair value depreciation and
historical cost depreciation

3,715 3,747

73 Note 22 b) Capital Adjustment Account (CAA)
Original: Revised:

£000 £000
Net gains/losses from fair value adjustments on
Investment Properties

26,053 (2,408)

Depreciation (and similar amounts) and
Movements on Assets charged to Revenue

49,481 50,162

Historic Cost Depreciation Adjustment (3,715) (3,747)
76 Note 23 a) Notes to Cash Flow Statement

Reconciliation of Net Surplus or (Deficit) on the Provision of Services to Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Original: Revised:

£000 £000
Net Surplus or (Deficit) on the Provision of Services (1,235) 26,545

Depreciation 41,307 41,988
Movement in Investment Property Values 26,053 (2,408)

2 Transposition of 2016/17
figures for Finance Portfolio
and Leader's Portfolio due to
re-ordering of rows.

23 EFA Expenditure and Funding Analysis
£000

Original:
Finance Portfolio 15,636
Leader's Portfolio 28,169

Revised:
Finance Portfolio 28,169
Leader's Portfolio 15,636

24 CIES Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
Expenditure Income Net

£000 £000 £000
Original:
Finance Portfolio 23,021 (7,385) 15,636
Leader's Portfolio 30,806 (2,637) 28,169

Revised:
Finance Portfolio 30,806 (2,637) 28,169
Leader's Portfolio 23,021 (7,385) 15,636

3 Amendment to add £12.515M
earmarked reserves
movement into Other Income
& Expenditure line, so that
(Surplus)/Deficit matches that
shown in the table below the
EFA.

23 EFA Expenditure and Funding Analysis
Net Expenditure

Chargeable to the
General Fund and

HRA Balances

Adjustments between
the Funding and

Accounting Basis

£'000 £'000
Original:
Other Income & Expenditure (161,205) (20,949)

1 Reclassification of a property
from Investment Property (IP)
to Property, Plant &
Equipment (PPE) and
consequential change in
basis of valuation. £28.806M
transferred from IP to PPE,
reversal of £28.461M
downward movement in fair
value of investment property,
£1,634M revaluation increase
for PPE and £0.681M
depreciation charge.

Revisions made to Statement of Accounts 

Ref No Description Page New Note
/Paragraph

Detail

Page 26



Revised:
Other Income & Expenditure (173,720) (38,019)
(including amendment noted at 1 above)

46 Note 8 a) Notes to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis
Other Differences Total Adjustments

£'000 £'000
Original:
Other Income & Expenditure (25,420) (20,949)

Revised:
Other Income & Expenditure (14,029) (38,019)
(including amendment noted at 1 above)

4 £1.124M adjustment to
remove internal recharges for
investment property
incorrectly applied to
Leader's Portfolio.

23 EFA Expenditure and Funding Analysis
Adjustments between

the Funding and
Accounting Basis

Net Expenditure in the
Comprehensive

Income and
Expenditure Statement

£000 £000
Original:
Leader's Portfolio 4,753 16,725
Other Income & Expenditure (20,949) (182,154)

Revised:
Leader's Portfolio 5,877 17,849
Other Income & Expenditure (38,019) (211,739)
(including other amendments noted at 1 and 3 above)

24 CIES Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
Expenditure Income Net

£000 £000 £000
Original:
Leader's Portfolio 20,448 (3,723) 16,725
Income and Expenditure in relation to Investment
Properties and changes in their fair value

29,002 (9,280) 19,722

Revised:
Leader's Portfolio 21,572 (3,723) 17,849
Income and Expenditure in relation to
Investment Properties and changes in their fair
value

(583) (9,280) (9,863)

(including other amendments noted at 1 and 3 above)

46 Note 8 a) Notes to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis
Other Differences Total Adjustments

£'000 £'000
Original:
Leader's Portfolio 2,030 4,753
Other Income & Expenditure (25,420) (20,949)

Revised:
Leader's Portfolio 3,154 5,877
Other Income & Expenditure (14,029) (38,019)
(including other amendments noted at 1 and 3 above)

58 Note 14 Investment Properties
£'000

Original:
Operating Expenditure 2,949

Revised:
Operating Expenditure 1,825

5 Officers' Remuneration 81 Note 26 Exit Packages
Correct the number and total cost of exit packages in each band for 2017/18 due to error in calculation.

No. of compulsory
redundancies

No. of other agreed
departures

Total cost of exit
packages in each

band
£'000

Original:
£0 - £20,000 13 35 355
£20,001 - £40,000 7 9 433
£40,001 - £60,000 2 7 408
£60,001 - £80,000 1 3 255
£80,001 - £100,000 1 6 608
£100,001 - £150,000 2 2 496
£150,000+ 2 4 1373
Total 28 66 3,928

Revised:
£0 - £20,000 20 42 453
£20,001 - £40,000 2 10 315
£40,001 - £60,000 3 6 402
£60,001 - £80,000 1 2 198
£80,001 - £100,000 0 2 177
£100,001 - £150,000 2 4 723
£150,000+ 0 0 0
Total 28 66 2,268

6 Property, Plant and
Equipment (PPE)

55 Note 12 PPE
Current valuation figure amended from £1.323M to £1,353M.
a) Depreciation - Council Dwelling wording amended to read "based on useful lives on a componentised basis"
b) Wording amended to read " Valuer's section" in place of "CAPITA"
PPE table updated to reflect VPE fully depreciated assets and analysis by years updated to reflect correct analysis

3 Amendment to add £12.515M
earmarked reserves
movement into Other Income
& Expenditure line, so that
(Surplus)/Deficit matches that
shown in the table below the
EFA.

Revisions made to Statement of Accounts 

Ref No Description Page New Note
/Paragraph

Detail

Page 27



7 Notes updated to provide
more clarity for prior period
adjustment.

45
Note 5 Prior Period Adjustment

Restatement of 2016/17 figures incorrect for Note 31 - Leases

Original:
The 2016/17 figures for future minimum lease payments have been updated in Note 31 Leases an increase of £0.03M. 
No other prior period adjustments have been made.

Revised:
The Council discovered that the disclosure for future minimum lease payments has historically been calculated incorrectly, 
to exclude future payments from leases that have incurred a rent review. As this information is for disclosure purposes only, 
it has not been necessary to adjust the financial statements. 

In order to correct this error, the Council has restated the prior year information for 2016/17 in Note 31 Leases, for the future
minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable leases in future years, resulting in an overall increase of £31.6M.

No other prior period adjustments have been made.

85 Note 31 Leases
Wording update to highlight that the 2016/17 figures have been restated for a prior period adjustment.

Original: 31-Mar
2017
£'000

Revised: 31-Mar
2017

Restated
£'000

8 Amended to separately
disclose Call Accounts
balances from those for
Money Market Funds. 70 Note 19 Cash and Cash Equivalents

31 March 2018
£'000

Original:
Money Market Funds 25,474
Call Accounts

Revised:
Money Market Funds 18,624
Call Accounts 6,850

64 Note 17 Financial Instruments - Fair Values
Amended for adjustment to Money Market Fund balances.

Balance Sheet Fair Value
31 March 2018 31 March 2018

£'000 £'000
Original:
Money Market Funds 25,474 25,474
Cash and Cash Equivalents 93

Revised:
Money Market Funds 18,624 18,624
Cash and Cash Equivalents 6,943

9 Amend PFI Assets 2016/17
figures to reflect those
reported in the 2016/17
audited statement of
accounts.

56 Note 12 Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE)
£'000

Original:
Cost or Valuation
At 1 April 2016 95,164
At 31 March 2017 95,164

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment
At 1 April 2016 (12,053)
Depreciation Charge (2,832)
At 31 March 2017 (14,885)

Revised:
Cost or Valuation
At 1 April 2016 99,295
At 31 March 2017 99,295

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment
At 1 April 2016 (16,184)
Depreciation Charge (2,832)
At 31 March 2017 (19,016)

10 Amend financial liabilities
disclosures to include
2016/17 figures for
transferred debt, to reflect
those reported in the 2016/17
audited statement of
accounts.

61,63 & 68 Note 17 Financial Instruments

Original:
No 2016/17 figures for transferred debt included in the tables, as no longer considered to be a financial instrument.

Revised:
Financial Instrument Balances

Long Term Short Term Total
31 March 2017 31 March 2017 31 March 2017

£'000 £'000 £'000
Deferred Liabilities (14,553) (364) (14,917)

Financial Instruments - Fair Values
Balance Sheet Fair Value
31 March 2017 31 March 2017

£'000 £'000
Transferred Debt Liabilities (14,917) (16,601)

Revisions made to Statement of Accounts 

Ref No Description Page New Note
/Paragraph

Detail

Page 28



Liquidity Risk - Loans and Other Long Term Liabilities Outstanding (Nominal Value)
Outstanding

31 March 2017
£'000

Deferred Liabilities (14,917)
11 Amend EFA explanation 23 EFA Expenditure and Funding Analysis

Amend explanation of Expenditure and Funding Analysis and amend the section heading to make it clear it is not a financial
statement.

Original:
"The Expenditure and Funding Analysis shows how…"

Revised:
"The Expenditure and Funding Analysis is a note showing how…"

12 Change in narrative for
Exceptional Items

45 Note 6 Exceptional Items
Change title to "Impairments and Revaluations". Add additional sentence: "These material items are disclosed separately within the
CIES to avoid distortion of comparisons between years".

13 Change in narrative for
Pooled Budgets

97 Note 39 Pooled Budgets
Add additional sentence to opening paragraph: "These arrangements are accounted for as joint operations".

14 Update of narrative for
Pensions Schemes to reflect
updated numbers

88 Note 33 Pension Schemes Accounted for as Defined Contribution
NHS Staff Pension Scheme updated to say "In 2017/18, the Council paid £0.023M to the NHS Pension Scheme in respect of former
NHS staff retirement benefits, representing 14.4% pensionable pay (2016/17 £0.058M and 14.3%)". Draft accounts included £0.058M
and 14.3% for 2017/18 and £0.060M and 14.3% for 2016/17.

10 Amend financial liabilities
disclosures to include
2016/17 figures for
transferred debt, to reflect
those reported in the 2016/17
audited statement of
accounts.

Revisions made to Statement of Accounts 

Ref No Description Page New Note
/Paragraph

Detail

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



DECISION-MAKER: GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
SUBJECT: ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2017-18
DATE OF DECISION: 30th JULY 2018
REPORT OF: CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

CONTACT DETAILS
AUTHOR: Name: Peter Rogers Tel: 023 8083 2835

E-mail: peter.rogers@southampton.gov.uk
Director Name: Mel Creighton Tel: 023 8083 4897

E-mail: mel.creighton@southampton.gov.uk

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
Not applicable
BRIEF SUMMARY
In accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations the Council is required to 
develop and publish an Annual Governance Statement (‘AGS’). The AGS reports on 
the extent to which the Council has complied with its Code of Corporate Governance, 
including how it has monitored and evaluated the effectiveness of its governance 
arrangements in the year, and on any planned changes in the coming period.
In accordance with CIPFA Guidance, Audit [Governance] Committees should review 
and approve the final draft of the AGS prior to the document being presented to the 
Chief Executive and Leader of the Council for signing.
RECOMMENDATIONS: The Governance Committee is asked to:

(i) Review the final draft 2017-18 AGS (Appendix 1)
REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS
1. The Governance Committee has responsibility to provide independent 

assurance on the adequacy of the risk management framework and the 
internal control and reporting environment, including (but not limited to) the 
reliability of the financial reporting process and the annual governance 
statement.

2. This responsibility extends to receiving, reviewing and approving the draft 
AGS prior to the document being presented to the Chief Executive and 
Leader of the Council for signing.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED
3. The production of an AGS is a mandatory requirement in accordance with 

Regulation 6 (1) (b) of the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 
and therefore no alternative options have been considered.

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out)
4. The Committee will recall that at the meeting on 11th June 2018, Members 

were invited to comment on an early draft of the AGS. This is in accordance 
with CIPFA guidance which recommends that “the AGS is first reviewed by 
members of the Audit [Governance] Committee at an early stage to allow 
comments and contributions to be made. The AGS, which forms part of the 
Statement of Accounts, must be current at the time that it is published’.Page 31

Agenda Item 7



5. The final draft of the 2017-18 AGS (Appendix 1) includes some amendments 
to the version that was presented at the June Governance Committee 
meeting. A summary of these amendments (as highlighted on the draft AGS) 
are as follows:
The Governance Framework
 Item A - Amended to reflect that the revised Anti-Fraud, Bribery and 

Corruption policy was approved at the June Governance Committee 
meeting. 

 Item B - Amended to include reference to the commencement of the 
2018 City Survey.

 Item D – Slightly amended wording to refer to ‘areas of focus’

Review of Effectiveness:
 Amended to refer to the Significant Governance Issue (Item 9.) and the 

VFM conclusion
 Amended to include reference to the Chief Internal Auditor’s Annual 

Opinion 2017-18 (as per the report elsewhere on the agenda).

Significant Governance Issues 
 Item 2 - Reference to the Chief Strategy Officer deleted
 Item 3 - Amended to reflect that this action has now been completed
 Item 4 - Amended to reflect that this action has now been completed
 Item 9 - Added to reflect a recognition that this is a ‘governance issue’.

6. Subject to any further comments, the final draft of the AGS will be presented 
to the Chief Executive and Leader of the Council for signing

7. As per the process adopted in previous years, and in accordance with good 
practice, the Governance Committee will be provided with a mid-year update 
report in respect of the status of the ‘Planned Actions’.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
Capital/Revenue 
8. None
Property/Other
9. None
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report: 
10. The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 which require that the 

Council must each financial year conduct a review of the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control and prepare an AGS for approval by a committee 
or members of the authority. The AGS must be approved in advance of the 
relevant authority approving the statement of accounts.

Other Legal Implications: 
11. None
RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS
12. Production of an AGS is a requirement under the Accounts and Audit 

(England) Regulations 2015 and is therefore required to be complied with. Page 32



The risk of the AGS not capturing or reflecting significant issues is managed 
via the ‘assurance gathering process’ which has been developed in 
accordance with the new “Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government: Framework (CIPFA/Solace, 2016)”.

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS
13. None
KEY DECISION? No
WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: N/A

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION

Appendices 
1. Draft AGS 2017-18
Documents In Members’ Rooms
1. None.
Equality Impact Assessment 
Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality and
Safety Impact Assessment (ESIA) to be carried out.

No

Data Protection Impact Assessment
Do the implications/subject of the report require a Data Protection  
Impact Assessment (DPIA) to be carried out.  

No

Other Background Documents
Other Background documents available for inspection at:
Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 

Information Procedure Rules / 
Schedule 12A allowing document to 
be Exempt/Confidential (if applicable)

1. None.

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Annual Governance Statement

SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY
Southampton City Council (“the Council”) is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in 
accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded and properly 
accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively. The council also has a duty under 
the Local Government Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way 
in which its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness. 

In discharging this overall responsibility, the council is responsible for putting in place proper 
arrangements for the governance of its affairs, and facilitating the effective exercise of its functions, 
which includes arrangements for the management of risk. 

The council has approved and adopted a Code of Corporate Governance that is consistent with the 
principles of the ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (CIPFA/Solace, 
2016). A copy of the code is on our website at: 
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/policies/code-corporate-governance-feb-2018_tcm63-396028.pdf

or can be obtained from the:

Service Director – Legal and Governance, 
Southampton City Council, 
Civic Centre, 
Southampton, 
SO14 7LY

This statement explains how the council has complied with the code and also meets the requirements 
of the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015, Regulation 6(1), which requires all relevant 
bodies to prepare an annual governance statement. 

THE PURPOSE OF THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 
The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, cultures and values by which the 
Council is directed and controlled and its activities through which it accounts to, engages with and 
leads its communities. To demonstrate compliance with the principles of good corporate governance, 
the Council must ensure that it does the right things, in the right way, for the right people, in a timely, 
inclusive, open, honest and accountable manner.   

Good governance is crucial as it leads to good management, good performance, good stewardship of 
public money, good public engagement and ultimately good outcomes for citizens and service users. 
Further, good governance enables an authority to pursue its aims effectively whilst controlling and 
managing risk.  

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all 
risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and 
not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing 
process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the council’s policies, aims 
and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood and potential impact of those risks being realised, and to 
manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 

The governance framework has been in place at the council for the year ended 31st March 2018 and 
up to the date of approval of the statement of accounts. 

Page 35

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1

http://www.southampton.gov.uk/policies/code-corporate-governance-feb-2018_tcm63-396028.pdf


Annual Governance Statement

 Facilitate staff recruitment & 
selection including job evaluation

 Provide Learning & Development
opportunities including induction

 Develop and maintain suite of 
policies including Performance 
Appraisal, Codes of Conduct, 
grievances, Conditions of Service
etc

Asset Management
 Manage and maintain Property Asset database
 Manage property acquisitions and disposals
 Undertake condition surveys
 Develop property investment strategy

 Prepare Annual Governance Statement
 Identify and collate sources of assurance
 Complete ‘Assurance Framework’ document
 Develop and maintain Risk Management Policy
 Develop and manage Strategic Risk Register with CMT

Financial Management
 Develop Medium Term Financial 

Strategy that is aligned with strategic 
priorities and outcomes

 Safeguard public monies
 Promote and deliver of good 

financial management
 Ensure financial input on all major 

decisions
Service Delivery
 Develop Service Business Plans 

that are aligned with key priorities 
and outcomes

 Review and manage performance 
 Review and manage service risk
 Information Governance
 Complete ‘AGS Annual Self-

Assessment Statement’

Legal & Ethical Assurance
 Ensure compliance with established policies, 

procedures, laws and regulation 
 Monitor ethical standards
 Report actual or potential breaches of the law, or 

maladministration
 Facilitate annual review of Council Constitution

including Scheme of Delegation.

Corporate Management
 Lead the Council Management Team in 

driving forward strategic agenda
 Organise and manage service delivery
 Develop and deliver Council Strategy 

Standards, Assurance / Ethics
 Oversee standards of ethics and probity 
 Promote openness, accountability and probity 
 Advise on declarations of Members’ Interests
 Investigate alleged breaches of Members 

Code of Conduct.
 Seek assurance on the risk management 

framework and internal control environment.
 Ensure that assets are safeguarded and 

proper accounting records maintained
 Ensure independence of audit;
 Monitor financial and non-financial risks 

(including measures to protect and respond 
to fraud).

 Provide Annual Audit Letter and Audit Results Report – ISA260
 Undertake Financial Statement Audit 
 Develop and Publish a Value for Money Conclusion 
 Develop and deliver Audit Programme

Assurance
 Develop and maintain Internal Audit Charter
 Produce and deliver Internal Audit Annual Plan
 Review, evaluate and comment on internal controls
 Report to Governance Committee including the ‘Annual Report and Opinion’
 Develop and maintain Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy and associated policies

SCC - GOVERNANCE ROLES 
& RESPONSIBILITIES

 Exercise power to call-in executive 
decisions

 Scrutinize items on Forward Plan
 Monitor performance and budgets
 Agree scrutiny inquiry programme

P
age 36



Annual Governance Statement
The Governance Framework
The fundamental function of good governance is to ensure that the Council achieves its intended 
outcomes while acting in the public interest at all times. The following core, high level, principles 
characterising good governance in the public sector are derived from the ‘Delivering Good Governance 
in Local Government: Framework (CIPFA/Solace, 2016)’.

A. A.  Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and 
respecting the rule of law. 
The Council’s Constitution sets out how the Council operates, how decisions are made and the 
procedures which are followed to ensure that these are efficient, transparent and accountable to local 
people. Some of these processes are required by the law, while others are a matter for the Council to 
choose.  The Constitution is divided into 15 Articles which set out the basic rules governing the Council’s 
business.  The Constitution is published on the council’s website at: 
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/council-democracy/meetings/council-constitution.aspx

The Constitution includes both Officers’ and Members’ Codes of Conduct which set out the expected 
behaviour and standards to be adhered to. In addition, there is a Code of Conduct for Employees which 
states the standards of conduct and behaviour expected of them in the course of their employment and 
where this extends into activities and interests outside of work. 
The Service Director: Legal and Governance is the Monitoring Officer and has responsibility for 
ensuring compliance with established policies, procedures, laws and regulation, and reporting any 
actual or potential breaches of the law, or maladministration, to full Council and/or to Cabinet.    

A ‘Whistleblowing Policy’ (Duty to Act) is in place and published on the council’s website.  
Whistleblowing is a way for employees to raise reasonably and honestly held concerns they may 
have about serious matters that could put the Council and/or the wider public at risk. Whistleblowing 
usually involves bringing forward concerns that it is in the public interest to investigate and resolve. 
Examples are crime, fraud, the giving or taking of bribes, financial malpractice, or practices that might 
endanger individuals or the environment. 

As part of the commitment to safeguard public funds there is an ‘Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption 
Policy and Anti-Corruption Policy and Strategy’ which outlines the process to be followed where there 
is suspicion of financial irregularity.  The Council also has in place an ‘Anti-Money Laundering’ policy 
and a ‘Bribery Policy’ which sets out both the expectations and responsibilities of both officers and 
Members. All such policies and strategies are subject to periodic review. 

Investigations and special reviews into suspected fraud or irregularities are overseen by an 
Investigation Steering Panel, comprising the Monitoring Officer, Chief Internal Auditor, Section 151 
Officer (Chief Finance Officer) and the Service Director Human Resources & Organisational 
Development.  

Complaints are managed via a formal Corporate Complaints policy and procedure in place which is 
published on the Council’s website and set out how a complaint will be dealt with.  In accordance with 
legislation there is a separate Children and Families Complaints Policy in place.  Complaints about 
Members are dealt with under the Members’ Code of Conduct complaints procedure. All such policies 
and strategies are subject to periodic review.

Page 37

http://www.southampton.gov.uk/council-democracy/meetings/council-constitution.aspx


Annual Governance Statement

B.  Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement
The Council supports the principle that people should have the opportunity to voice their opinions on 
issues that affect them. The views of customers are at the heart of the council’s service delivery 
arrangements and are actively sought.  

The Southampton City Council Strategy 2016-2020 (‘Council Strategy’) reflects feedback from 
residents, both from the 2015 Priorities Survey and the 2016 City Survey 2016. The Council Strategy 
sets out how the Council will work in order to deliver services in a modern, efficient and sustainable 
way that meets the needs of our residents. 

The Council’s website includes a ‘Have your say’ section which set out how residents and other 
stakeholders can voice their opinions and shape service delivery. It includes information on:

 Consultation
 E-Petitions
 Comments, compliments and complaints
 Have your say at meetings

In addition, where appropriate, public consultation is used to seek the views of residents and 
stakeholders.  For example the public consultation on budget proposals that helped to shape the final 
budget report for 2017-18.  Information was made available in an easy to understand format and 
respondents were informed on how their feedback was used.  This was then reported to Cabinet before 
they made their final recommendations to Council.   

The 2016 City Survey, which asked residents about their views and opinions on a range of issues facing 
the city, was commissioned by Southampton Connect and the Police, Council and NHS, and was 
intended to capture and help understand the views of local residents. This survey is repeated every 
other year in order to understand trends and evaluate performance. The 2018 City Survey commenced 
on 2nd July.

The Council has established a ‘People’s Panel’ which now has a membership of over 1,450.  This Panel 
comprises a group of residents who take part in various forms of activity including surveys, quick polls, 
interviews and workshops. Their views are used to inform future decisions and services. Residents’ 
views are also tracked over timer over time to see how changes in the city affect their opinions and 
experience of the city.

There is a strong focus on youth participation in the city via ‘The Youth Forum Southampton’ which 
provides opportunity for young people to influence how services are delivered, highlight issues that that 
need to be reviewed, and to help shape public services for the community. The Council has also 
relaunched three children in care councils for different age groups. The ‘Southampton Speak Up! - 
Children and Young People’s Participation Strategy 2016-2020’ explains how young people can get 
involved to help make Southampton a better place.

C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental 
benefits
The Southampton City Council Strategy 2016-2020 (‘Council Strategy’) is a key strategic document that 
sets out what the Council wants to achieve, what it will do, how it will work and how it will contribute to 
the Southampton City Strategy (2015-2025). The Council Strategy sets out the targets, commitments 
and outcomes that are expected to be achieved by 2020. It influences all other Council strategies and 
policies developed during this period, as well as the Council’s spending decisions.  The priority 
outcomes in the Council Strategy are:

Page 38



Annual Governance Statement

 Southampton has strong and sustainable economic growth
 Children and young people get a good start in life
 People in Southampton live safe, healthy, independent lives
 Southampton is an attractive modern city where people are proud to live and work

Performance against the key indicators is actively monitored with performance reports published each 
quarter. We have been developing our approach to Outcomes Based Planning and Budgeting (OBPB) 
so that there is growing clarity between the outcomes that we want to achieve and how we prioritise 
resource allocation. Therefore we are now operating in a much clearer and streamlined strategic 
framework, to deliver outcomes set by elected Members. We now work to a suite of key strategies that 
drive our plans set within the framework of:

 Council Strategy;
 Medium Term Financial Strategy;
 Customer Strategy; and
 Workforce Strategy. 

The ‘golden thread’ is further strengthen through changes to the performance management framework 
and annual performance reviews which make clear links between objectives set for staff and the 
council’s priority outcomes. 

The Southampton City Strategy (2015-2025) is a partnership strategy which sets out the vision for the 
whole city: 'Southampton a city of opportunity where everyone thrives'.  This Strategy has been 
developed by Southampton Connect which is a strategic partnership in the city that seeks to address 
the key challenges facing the city in order to improve outcomes for all those who live, work and visit the 
city.  This group, currently chaired by the Chief Executive of Southampton City Council (Chair changing 
to another Connect member organisation in Spring 2018) and including city leaders for health, business, 
education, police, fire and rescue and the voluntary sector, have come together to agree a 10 year city 
vision.  

At a sub-regional level delivery of key outcomes and priorities is through the Partnership for Urban 
South Hampshire (“PUSH”) and the Solent Local Enterprise Partnership (“Solent LEP”).  PUSH is a 
collaborative partnership working arrangement between the local authorities in the area to support the 
sustainable economic growth of the sub region.  Solent LEP is led by the business community and 
supported by three university partners, the further education sector, three unitary authority Leaders, 
eight district councils, one county council and the voluntary and community sector – all working together 
to secure a more prosperous and sustainable future for the Solent area. The Government’s Industrial 
Strategy (Nov 2017) identifies LEPs as leads for the development of Local Industrial Strategies, 
identifying actions and resource requirements for enhanced local growth and productivity (where the 
area does not have a Mayoral Combined Authority) PUSH works collaboratively with Solent LEP to 
deliver its roles and objectives.  

In 2016, Southampton City Council, Portsmouth City Council and Isle of Wight Council worked with 
wider Solent authorities and Solent Local Enterprise Partnership to negotiate a devolution deal with HM 
Government. Following a public consultation on the governance arrangements for the deal, a 
submission was made by the three authorities to the Secretary of State in the Autumn of 2016, 
requesting consideration of proposed arrangements to establish a Solent Mayoral Combined Authority. 
The outcome of this submission is awaited.  

The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (‘MTFS’) is a core part of the Council’s strategic 
framework and plays a pivotal role in translating the Council’s strategic plans and ambitions into action. 
The MTFS focuses on determining the financial position for the next five years and takes into account 
major issues affecting the Council’s finances, including international, national and regional economic 

Page 39



Annual Governance Statement
influences as well as local factors and priorities. An updated MTFS for the period 2018/19 to 2021/22 
was approved by Full Council in February 2018.

The objective of the MTFS is to provide a financial framework within which financial stability can be 
achieved and sustained in the medium term to deliver the council’s outcomes. The Strategy is based 
around 6 key aims:

 To provide financial parameters within which budget and service planning should take place;
 To ensure the council sets a balanced budget;
 To focus and re-focus the allocation of resources so that, over time, priority areas receive additional 

resources, ensuring services are defined on the basis of a clear alignment between priority and 
affordability;

 To ensure the council manages and monitors its financial resources effectively so that spending 
commitments do not exceed resources available in each service area;

 To plan the level of fees, charges and taxation in line with levels that the council regard as being 
necessary, acceptable and affordable to meet the council’s aims, objectives, policies and priorities 
whilst gradually reducing the council’s reliance on Central Government funding; and

 To ensure that the council’s long term financial health and viability remain sound.

Development of the MTFS takes into account a number of other strategies including the Southampton 
Better Care Plan. The Better Care Plan identifies key areas where closer integration between health 
and social care will enable system wide efficiencies that benefit both parties and improve the experience 
and outcomes for the service users. The associated Better Care Fund, which commenced in 2015, 
pools and aligns funding for a significant number of services via a formal contract between the Council 
and Southampton City Clinical Commissioning Group. For the Council these efficiencies are included 
within the medium term financial forecast.  In recognition of the pressures in dealing with adult social 
care demand, local authorities are able to levy a “social care precept” of up to 3% in council tax which 
must be spent exclusively on social care. The Government has also provided £1.5 billion nationally - 
by way of an Improved Better Care Fund grant - for local authorities to spend on adult social care. 
Taken together, these two measures are estimated to provide £3.5bn nationally by 2019/20 to address 
the demographic pressures facing the social care system. Governance across this work is via Cabinet 
member and senior officer representation on the Commissioning Partnership Board and strategic 
oversight from the Health and Wellbeing board. 

D. Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the 
intended outcomes
The Council has in place a robust decision making process with all reports are subject to corporate 
clearance (Legal, Finance and Policy) prior to publication in accordance with the published procedures 
(which form part of the Council Constitution). All reports follow a standard template which identifies the 
‘Decision Maker’, the decision or action required, why the report is recommended, alternative options 
considered together with a details (including consultation carried out) section. The template also 
includes separate sections detailing any Financial (Resource), Legal, Risk Management and Policy 
implications.  These consider the how proposals will be paid for, the statutory power to undertake the 
action and including reference to any legislation that affects the proposals, information on the risks that 
are being accepted as part of the decision and confirmation that the report proposals are in accordance 
with the Council’s approved Policy Framework.

The Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee (“OSMC”) manages the council’s 
overview and scrutiny process which includes scrutinising items on the council’s Forward Plan and 
exercising the power to call-in executive decisions, agreeing the scrutiny inquiry programme, monitoring 
performance and budgets, Scrutiny provides the role of the "critical friend" to the decision makers and 

Page 40



Annual Governance Statement
assists in policy development, drives improvement in public services and enables the voice of the public 
to be heard. There are a number of Scrutiny Panels that support the work of the Executive and the
Council as a whole. The Scrutiny Inquiry Panel carries out a work programme of scrutiny inquiries 
approved by the OSMC. In addition, the Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel undertakes the statutory 
scrutiny of health and adult social care agencies in Southampton, and the Children and Families 
Scrutiny Panel scrutinises services for children and families in the city, including education.

All scrutiny meetings are held in public with opportunity for the public to ask questions or submit 
questions in writing to the committee or panels. Scrutiny inquiries can consider written evidence and 
members of the public, community groups, or other key stakeholders can write in to bring evidence to 
the attention of Inquiry Panel members.

The Council has in place ‘Outcome Plans’ that are explicitly aligned with the Council’s key priorities and 
outcomes and areas of focus as set out in the Council Strategy.  These plans identify the key challenges 
and opportunities associated with the delivery of the respective key priority and outcomes and how they 
can be addressed.   These plans reflect ‘How we are performing’ (against a base year 2015-2016) and 
‘How we will perform in 2019-2020’ with a suite of key performance measures explicitly aligned with the 
individual key priority outcomes and the Council Strategy scorecard. Performance against these 
measures or indicators is subject to regular and robust review by both the Council Management Team 
and Members, and the measures themselves are regularly reviewed and amended as required to 
ensure that they remain appropriate in monitoring the key areas of focus. The outcome plans also 
outline the budget allocated to the delivery of services aligned to delivering the outcome.

Each service area within the Council is also required to produce a business plan that includes what 
services will be provided (aligned to outcomes) and how these services will be delivered.

Budget pressures arising from services are identified through regular monitoring of budgets and work 
plan with action plans to address any significant in year budget variances are agreed with the Council 
Management Team and subject to monthly progress / status reporting. 

E. Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the 
individuals within it
The Council has in place a Workforce Strategy which is intended to enable the Council to develop its 
current and future workforce with the right skills, competencies and behaviours to deliver services. This 
is managed by the Human Resources and Organisational Development service and covers pay and 
reward, recruitment, retention, performance management, and the training and development of the 
workforce. 

The Workforce Strategy sits alongside the Customer Strategy and the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
and takes account of challenges in relation to the overall Council budget.  It is used to inform resource 
allocation decisions, drive positive change and deliver agreed outcomes.

The vision is for the Council to be an employer of choice and be recognised as a ‘Great Place to Work’ 
where employees have pride in their work, the Council and the city.  The success measures are defined 
in the document and will be delivered through: 

 A skilled, agile, flexible and engaged workforce of high performing, professional staff guided in their 
work by our core behaviours and delivering the right services effectively and efficiently for a 
sustainable Council

 The Council recognising, developing and rewarding talent and proactively promoting learning and 
growth across all areas.  

Page 41



Annual Governance Statement

F. Managing risk and performance through robust internal control and strong public 
financial management
The Council has in place a ‘Risk Management Policy 2017-2020’ that sets out the framework, 
arrangements and responsibilities in respect of how risks relating to the delivery of key outcomes and 
priorities, are identified and managed.  This policy is intended to support the application of sound risk 
management principles and practices across all service areas. A register of key Strategic Risks is in 
place and regularly reviewed by the Council Management Team, with Service Management Teams 
responsible for identifying and managing risks within their individual areas.     

The Council’s Governance Committee has responsibility to provide independent assurance on the 
adequacy of the risk management framework and the internal control and reporting environment and 
the integrity of the financial reporting and annual governance statement process. This Committee 
receives periodic reports regarding risk management and would be asked to approve any significant 
changes to the Risk Management Policy. The Governance Committee undertakes the core functions 
of an audit committee and operates in accordance with CIPFA guidance.  

Performance against the key indicators in the Council Strategy is published on the council website for 
each quarterly period and is actively monitored and reported to both the Council’s Management Team, 
Strategy Unit and the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee.  In addition, all significant 
commercial partnership working arrangements have a range of key performance indicators which are 
used to verify and manage service performance. The Council is committed to achieving best value from 
its suppliers and ensuring that goods and services are procured in the most efficient and effective way.  
Regular review meetings are held with key suppliers in order to ensure that contracts remain fit for 
purpose. In addition, all significant commercial partnership working arrangements have a range of key 
performance indicators which are used to verify and manage service performance.  These outsourced 
contracts are managed by a Supplier Management Team which provides a senior management 
interface between the Council and our partnership service providers.  

The Council's financial management arrangements conform to the governance requirements of the 
CIPFA ‘Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) in Local Government (2016)’. The 
CFO is professionally qualified and is a member of the Council Management Team and has direct 
access to the Chief Executive.  The CFO is actively involved in ensuring that strategic objectives are 
aligned to the longer-term finance strategy.  The CFO has input into all major decisions, advises the 
Executive on financial matters and is responsible for ensuring that budgets are agreed in advance, that 
the agreed budget is robust and that the finance function is fit for purpose. 

The Council's assurance arrangements also conform to the governance requirements of the CIPFA 
‘Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal Audit in public service organisations (2010)’. The Head 
of Internal Audit (Chief Internal Auditor) is professionally qualified and is responsible for reviewing and 
reporting on the adequacy of the council’s internal control environment, including the arrangements for 
achieving value for money.  The Chief Internal Auditor has direct access to the Chief Executive, and to
the council’s Monitoring Officer where matters arise relating to Chief Executive responsibility, legality 
and standards.  Where it is considered necessary to the proper discharge of internal audit function, the 
Chief Internal Auditor has direct access to elected Members of the Council and in particular those who 
serve on committees charged with governance (i.e. the Governance Committee).

G. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit, to deliver 
effective accountability 
The Council is committed to openness and transparency and publishing as much Council data as it can 
in order to increase accountability. The Council has established a ‘Council Data’ web page that enables 

Page 42



Annual Governance Statement
the public to access a range of information that is published in accordance with the 
Local Government Transparency Code (2015). 

The ‘Council Data’ web page includes information on council spending with a link to the Council's budget 
book which provides a comprehensive summary of the Council's 2016/17 Revenue Budget and details 
the assumptions made and risks considered in setting the budget. It also provides a link to the 
Statement of Accounts which shows how public money has been used. 

The Council’s Constitution sets out how decisions are made and makes specific reference to decision 
making by Full Council, by the Executive (Cabinet), by Overview and Scrutiny Committees, other 
committees and sub-committees established by the Council and by Council bodies acting as tribunals. 
The Constitution also includes an Officer Scheme of Delegation which sets out the powers and functions 
that are delegated to named Council Officers. The compilation of a Register of Delegated Powers is a 
statutory requirement and is maintained by the Service Director: Legal & Governance.  

The Council produces a Forward Plan of all Key Decisions which are proposed to be taken within the 
next four months (updated monthly 28 clear days prior to scheduled Cabinet meetings on a rolling 
basis). Other decisions are also included where practicable to assist in providing public transparency 
and confidence in decision making. All agendas and minutes of meetings in respect of Council, Cabinet, 
Overview and Scrutiny, Non-Executive Committees and statutory boards and published on the 
Council’s website.  

REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS 
The council has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of its 
governance framework including the system of internal control. The review of effectiveness is led by a 
‘Controls Assurance Management Group’ comprising the Service Director – Strategic Finance & 
Commercialisation (Section 151 Officer), Chair of the Governance Committee, Chief Strategy Officer, 
Service Director – Legal & Governance (Monitoring Officer) and the Chief Internal Auditor.  

The review process, applied in respect of maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control, is informed by:-

 The views of Internal Audit regularly reported to Governance Committee via the ‘Internal Audit: 
Progress Report’ which include executive summaries of new reports published where critical 
weaknesses or unacceptable levels of risk were identified.  In addition, where appropriate, the 
relevant Service Director being required to attend a meeting to update the Committee regarding 
progress and actions;

 The views of external auditors, regularly reported to the Governance Committee, including regular 
progress reports, the Annual Audit Letter and Audit Results Report – ISA260.  This year the 
external auditors have issued an ‘except for’ Value for Money (‘VFM’) conclusion. This supports 
the findings of the ‘review of effectiveness and is reflected in the ‘significant governance issue’ 
Item 9. 

 The Chief Internal Auditors ‘Annual Report and Opinion’ on the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
council’s internal control environment. The Chief Internal Auditor’s opinion for 2017-18 was that 
only limited assurance can be provided that the framework of governance, risk management and 
control at Southampton City Council is effective. This is referred to further in the ‘significant 
governance issues’ (Item 7.) which includes the ‘Planned Action’. 

 The Internal Audit Charter and delivery of the annual operational plan;

 The work of the executive managers within the authority who have responsibility for the 
development and maintenance of the governance environment;

Page 43

http://www.southampton.gov.uk/council-democracy/council-data/statement-accounts.aspx


Annual Governance Statement
 The completion of ‘Self-Assessment Statements’ by Service Directors which cover the key 

processes and systems that comprise the council’s governance arrangements and are intended 
to identify any areas where improvement or further development is required;      

 Completion of an ‘Assurance Framework’ document which reflects the key components of the 
Council’s overall governance and internal control environment.  This document, based on 
CIPFA/SOLACE guidance, records the key controls in place, and sources of assurance, and 
identifies any significant gaps or weaknesses in key controls;

 The independent views of regulatory inspection agencies such as Ofsted and the Care Quality 
Commission;

 The Risk Management Policy and specifically the Strategic Risk Register;

 The work of the Governance Committee in relation to the discharge of its responsibility to lead on 
all aspects of corporate governance.  

We have been advised on the implications of the result of the review of the effectiveness of the 
governance framework by the Governance Committee, and that the arrangements continue to be 
regarded as fit for purpose in accordance with the governance framework. The areas already addressed 
and those to be specifically addressed with new actions planned are outlined below.  

SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE ISSUES 
The following significant governance issues have been identified: 

Governance Issue 

The general level of staff awareness of the existence and content of the ‘Whistleblowing Duty to Act’ 
policy, ‘Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy’ and ‘Anti Money Laundering Policy’ and associated 
responsibilities is still inconsistent.  This is notwithstanding that a suite of ‘Essential Stuff’ documents 
has been created which provide summarised versions of key policies that staff may need to have an 
awareness of.  There are separate ‘Essentials’ documents in respect Anti-Fraud and Anti-
Corruption, Anti-Money Laundering, Bribery Act and Whistleblowing’.  

Planned Action: It is intended create e-learning modules that staff have to complete so that 
managers can be assured that their staff are aware. 

1.

Responsible Officer: Service Director, Human Resources & Organisational Development

Target for completion: March 2019

Governance Issue

Whilst the Workforce Strategy provides the framework in terms of the development the council’s 
current and future workforce in terms of required skills and behaviours there is need for a robust and 
consistent approach to succession planning for key posts and/or a spread of skills to avoid over 
reliance on any particular individual.

2.

Planned Action: The Chief Strategy Officer and Service Director, HR&OD to work with CMT to 
identify key posts or roles where succession planning may be required as part of the council’s 
process for outcomes based planning and budgeting and business planning. 

Page 44



Annual Governance Statement
Responsible Officer: Service Director, Human Resources & Organisational Development

Target for completion:  September 2018

Governance Issue

The Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption Policy and Strategy needs to be reviewed and updated together 
with the Bribery Act Policy and Anti Money Laundering Policy.

COMPLETED ACTION:  Updated versions of the policies were reviewed and approved by the 
Governance Committee at the April 2018 meeting.  

3.

Responsible Officer:  Service Director Finance & Commercialisation

Governance Issue

The capacity of officers to support and deliver a range of competing priorities will continue to be a 
challenge notwithstanding the implementation of the new operating model for the council and the 
associated organisational redesign programme.  It is recognised that there will continue to be a 
range of competing priorities that will need to be managed such that the council is able to deliver 
better outcomes for our residents and to further improve customers’ experiences.      

COMPLETED ACTION Planned Action:  A review of the number and type of activities and projects 
in place or planned, to support delivery of key priorities, has been undertaken. This review exercise, 
undertaken by the council’s Project Management Office and in consultation with both the Council 
Management Team and the council’s Cabinet Members, has resulted in a better understanding of 
capacity and has informed decisions around prioritisation and scheduling.        

4.

Responsible Officer:  Chief Strategy Officer 

Target for completion: September 2018

Governance Issue

A new Performance Management Framework was approved and implemented in 2017 which was 
intended to provide a consistent framework for Annual Performance Reviews (APRs). There are 
however still some significant inconsistencies across service areas in terms of compliance with the 
APR process.  

The APR template was reviewed in early 2018 following feedback which suggested that the 
template and associated process could be much more straightforward to enable the emphasis to be 
on more meaningful dialogue rather than the process itself.  

Planned Action:  A redesigned Annual Performance Review template has been issued and 
includes an on-line “button” to auto submit / record that APRs are completed.  This is intended to 
help managers, with support from the HR team, to track an overall picture so that they are able to 
take appropriate action where this is not being done.  HR Advisors will be asking for feedback on the 
new template and will be checking for overall compliance to ensure that APRs are being held at all 
levels.

5.

Responsible Officer:  Service Director, Human Resources & Organisational Development

Target for completion: March 2019 - in terms of an overall review of compliance

6. Governance Issue

Page 45



Annual Governance Statement
There are a range of controls in place to manage the risk of a cyber security incident and in the 
event of successful cyber-attack the council’s Major Incident process would be followed.  It is 
recognised however that there is a need to test the corporate response in the event of such an 
incident in order to identify any significant gaps or weaknesses. 

Planned Action: A draft 'Cyber Response Plan' is in development and will appear as an annex to 
the Corporate Business Continuity Plan.  An appropriate desktop exercise to be identified and 
delivered in consultation with key stakeholders.

Responsible Officer:  Service Director, Digital and Business Operations

Target for completion: Oct 2018

Governance Issue

For 2017-18 the number of internal audit reviews where the overall level of assurance has been 
assessed as ‘limited’ (and in a small number of cases assessed as ‘no assurance’) has increased 
compared with 2016-17.  It is considered that this reflects a change in the delivery of the internal 
audit function which is now provided by an in-house audit team including a shared Chief Internal 
Auditor with Portsmouth City Council.  The service has been repositioned in terms of its visibility and 
profile within the organisation and has developed and delivered a more directed and focussed audit 
programme. 

Planned Action: Internal audit will undertake follow-up reviews of all ‘limited’ and ‘no assurance’ 
reports as part of the 2018-19 Internal Audit plan.  This will not only assess the status and 
effectiveness of agreed actions relating to the individual audit reports but will also provide an 
overview in terms of overall management response to risk and controls.  The foregoing will be 
reflected in the Internal Audit Progress Reports that are presented to the Governance Committee 
throughout the year and eventually in the Chief Internal Auditors Annual Report and Opinion.    

7.

Responsible Officer:  Service Director Finance & Commercialisation

Target for completion: March 2019

Governance Issue

Whilst the H&S policy, arrangements, safe working procedures (including H&S training), 
management training, provide the framework in terms of the requirement to identify and deliver 
training to ensure staff H&S competency, there is a further need for guidance around application of 
training against roles.

Planned Action: Develop generic training matrices which may thereafter be amended and refined 
by service managers against local and specific need

8.

Responsible Officer:  Service Director, Human Resources & Organisational Development

Target for completion: August 2018

9. Governance Issue

Whilst ‘Contract Procedure Rules’ are in place that require all council buying to be undertaken in line 
with legislation and to achieve best value, there is evidence of areas of non-compliance particularly 
in respect of those procurements where the Procurement Service Team has not been directly 
engaged in the process.  

Page 46



Annual Governance Statement
Planned Action: The actions to address this issue are to be progressed via the council’s Strategic 
Risk Register. This reflects the significance of the issue noting that the Strategic Risk Register 
identifies and captures the key strategic risks that need to be managed and is directly overseen by 
the Council Management Team.  The Strategic Risk Register is reviewed and reported to the 
Council Management Team on a quarterly basis.  This review process will consider and, where 
necessary, challenge the status of the mitigating actions.     

Responsible Officer:  Service Director, Digital and Business Operations

Target for completion:  December 2018

We propose over the coming year to take steps to address the above matters to further enhance our 
governance arrangements. We are satisfied that these steps will address the need for improvements 
that were identified in our review of effectiveness, and will monitor their implementation and operation 
as part of our next annual review. 

Signed

............................................................ ............................................................
Richard Crouch  Councillor Christopher Hammond  
Interim Chief Executive  Leader of the Council 

on behalf of Southampton City Council  

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



DECISION-MAKER: GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
SUBJECT: EXTERNAL AUDIT – AUDIT RESULTS REPORT
DATE OF DECISION: 30 JULY 2018
REPORT OF: EY LLP

CONTACT DETAILS
AUTHOR: Name: Martin Young Tel: 02380 382220

E-mail: myoung1@uk.ey.com

Director Name: Helen Thompson Tel: 02380 382099
E-mail: Hthompson2@uk.ey.com

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
NOT APPLICABLE

BRIEF SUMMARY
The Audit Results Report summarises the findings from the 2017/18 audit. It includes 
the messages arising from the audit of the Council’s financial statements and the 
results of the work undertaken to assess the Council’s arrangements to secure value 
for money in its use of resources.
RECOMMENDATIONS:

(i) To note the external auditor’s ‘Audit Results Report’ as attached in
Appendix.

(ii) To approve the letter of representation.

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS
1. The Governance Committee’s terms of reference require it to be satisfied 

that appropriate action is taken on risk and internal control related issues 
identified by the external auditors. Specifically, the Committee has 
responsibility for oversight of the reports of external audit.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED
2. None.
DETAIL (Including consultation carried out)
3. The report has been discussed and agreed with the Mel Creighton (Service 

Director - Finance & Commercialisation and s151 officer).
The letter of representation has been prepared by officers and is a declaration 
to the auditor that all matters relevant to their responsibilities have been 
declared to the auditor and, where appropriate, presented in the financial 
statements.

4. The external auditor will be in attendance at the Governance Committee 
meeting to answer questions and to provide an update of any further findings 
identified in completing the audit.

5. We are pleased to report that the Council has made positive progress in the 
Page 49

Agenda Item 8



following areas:
• data for our analytics work was provided to deadlines; and 
• the Council has simplified the method used to produce its financial 

statements from its general ledger. This is a significant achievement.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
Capital/Revenue 
5. None.
Property/Other
6. None.
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report: 
7. Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.

Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015

Other Legal Implications: 
8. None.
RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS
9. None.
POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS
10. None.

KEY DECISION? Yes/No
WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: N/A

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION

Appendices 
1. Audit Results Report 2017/18
2. Letter of management representation 2017/18
Documents In Members’ Rooms
1. None.
Equality Impact Assessment 
Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality and
Safety Impact Assessment (ESIA) to be carried out.

Yes/No

Privacy Impact Assessment
Do the implications/subject of the report require a Privacy Impact
Assessment (PIA) to be carried out.  

Yes/No

Page 50



Other Background Documents
Other Background documents available for inspection at:
Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 

Information Procedure Rules / 
Schedule 12A allowing document to 
be Exempt/Confidential (if applicable)

1. None.
2.

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Southampton City
Council
Audit results report
Year ended 31 March 2018

20 July 2018

P
age 53

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix 1



2

20 July 2018

Dear Governance Committee Members

We are pleased to attach our audit results report for the forthcoming meeting of the Governance Committee. This report summarises our
preliminary audit conclusion in relation to the audit of Southampton City Council for 2017/18. We will issue our final report following the
Governance Committee meeting scheduled for 30 July 2018.

We have substantially completed our audit of Southampton City Council (the Council) for the year ended 31 March 2018.

Subject to concluding the outstanding matters listed in our report, we confirm that we expect to issue an unqualified audit opinion on the financial
statements in the form at Section 3, before the statutory deadline of 31 July 2018. We are reporting matters about your arrangements to secure
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in your use of resources.

This report is intended solely for the use of the Governance Committee, other members of the Council, and senior management. It should not be
used for any other purpose or given to any other party without obtaining our written consent.

We would like to thank your staff for their help during our audit.

We welcome the opportunity to discuss the contents of this report with you at the Governance Committee meeting on 30 July 2018.

Yours faithfully

Helen Thompson
Associate Partner
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP
Encl

P
age 54



3

Contents
Executive
Summary01 04Areas of

Audit Focus02 Audit Report03

Other
reporting
issues

06

Audit
Differences

Appendices10Assessment of
Control
Environment

07 Data
Analytics08 Independence9

In April 2015 Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) issued “Statement of responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies”. It is available from the via the PSAA website (www.PSAA.co.uk).
The Statement of responsibilities serves as the formal terms of engagement between appointed auditors and audited bodies. It summarises where the different responsibilities of auditors and audited
bodies begin and end, and what is to be expected of the audited body in certain areas.
The “Terms of Appointment (updated February 2017)” issued by the PSAA sets out additional requirements that auditors must comply with, over and above those set out in the National Audit Office
Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and in legislation, and covers matters of practice and procedure which are of a recurring nature.
This report is made solely to the Governance Committee and management of Southampton City Council in accordance with the statement of responsibilities. Our work has been undertaken so that we
might state to the Governance Committee, and management of Southampton City Council those matters we are required to state to them in this report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Governance Committee and management of Southampton City Council for this report or for the opinions we have
formed. It should not be provided to any third-party without our prior written consent.

05 Value for
Money

V
F
M

P
age 55

http://www.psaa.co.uk/


4

Executive Summary01

P
age 56



5

Executive Summary

Scope update

In our audit planning report presented at the 12 February 2018 Governance Committee meeting, we provided you with an overview of our audit scope and approach for
the audit of the financial statements. We carried out our audit in accordance with this plan, with the following exceptions:
• Changes in materiality: In our progress report to the Governance Committee in April 2018, we updated the materiality figures communicated in our audit plan to

note that our audit procedures would be performed using a materiality of £13.3m. We updated our planning materiality assessment using the draft financial
statements. Based on our materiality measure of gross expenditure on provision of services, we have updated our overall materiality assessment to £12.8m. This
results in updated performance materiality, at 75% of overall materiality, of £9.6m (previously £10.0m), and an updated threshold for reporting misstatements of
£641k (previously £663k).

• New financial statements significant risk not identified at planning stage. ISA 240 requires us to presume there is a risk of fraud in revenue and expenditure
recognition and respond to it on all audit engagements unless we can rebut the presumption that it exists. Our initial assessment was that we could rebut the
presumption that it exists. This is possible, for example if transactions are simple. We revised this assessment due to the complexity of the Capita guarantees coupled
with the fact that the parties haven’t reached agreement on the amounts due; and

• We identified an additional inherent risk related to Private Finance Initiatives (PFIs). This was reported to you in our April 2018 progress report.

A summary of our approach to the audit of the balance sheet including any changes to that approach from the prior year audit is included in Appendix A.

Description Detail of changes to our scope

Significant Risk

Risk of fraud in revenue and expenditure recognition

Identified since the planning stage.

As part of the Capita contract the Council has agreed procurement and digital guarantees.

The Council has not reached agreement with Capita over the amounts payable under these guarantees. As
such there is subjectivity in the amount to be recognised in 2017/18,

For details of the work performed, see Section 2.

Inherent Risk

Private Finance Initiatives (PFIs)

Identified since the planning stage.

The Council has two PFIs on its Balance Sheet: PFI Schools and PFI Street Lighting.
Accounting for PFI is a complex area. The PFI Schools and PFI Street Lighting had not been reviewed by a
specialist since EY took over as your external auditors. We had been relying on specialist reviews undertaken
by the Audit Commission, updated by a work program completed annually by the audit team. Due to the time
lapsed since these arrangements have been subject to specialist review, we determined it was appropriate to
review them this year.
For details of the work performed, see Section 2.

P
age 57



6

Executive Summary

Audit differences
We identified two unadjusted audit differences in the draft financial statements. Details can be found in Section 4 Audit Differences. Management has provided a
rationale for not adjusting in the draft Letter of Representation. We ask that this rationale be approved by the Governance Committee and included in the signed Letter
of Representation. The impact of adjusting for these errors would be to increase unusable reserves by £7.2m. There would be no impact on usable reserves or on the
General Fund balance. We agree with management’s assessment that the aggregate impact of unadjusted audit differences are not material.

We have also identified audit differences which have been adjusted by management. Details can be found in Section 4 Audit Differences.

Status of the audit

We have substantially completed our audit of Southampton City Council’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018 and have performed the procedures
outlined in our audit planning report. Subject to satisfactory completion of the following outstanding items we expect to issue an unqualified opinion on the Council’s
financial statements in the form which appears at Section 3. However until work is complete, further amendments may arise. Outstanding items are:
• Completion of procedures on property valuations, some information such as the revised valuation of Studio 144 has only been recently received (see section 2);
• receipt of information confirming the Council’s and Capita’s position on procurement and digital guarantees;
• the NDR (Non Domestic Rates) appeals provision;
• a discrete number of notes including the Expenditure and Funding Analysis;
• receipt of one outstanding investment confirmation;
• final review and sign off of performed audit procedures;
• review of the final version of the financial statements;
• completion of subsequent events review;
• receipt of the signed management representation letter; and
• Whole of Government Accounts (WGA): completion of procedures required by the National Audit Office (NAO) regarding the WGA submission.

We expect to issue the audit certificate after we issue the audit opinion, once the WGA submission has been completed.

P
age 58



7

Executive Summary

Objections

We did not receive a valid objection to the 2017/18 accounts from the public. However, we make the following observation.

The notice of inspection of public rights was properly issued and the period of inspection ran from 9 May 2018 to 20 June 2018. During that period we received two
calls from an individual experiencing difficulties in accessing the statement of accounts, initially because an incorrect contact number had been provided, and
subsequently in receiving complete responses to the questions raised. The Council’s final response to the questions posed was after the period of inspection rights had
concluded. Management have explained that this was because they:
• received follow up questions on 15 June 2018 and they could not turnaround responses to these in time; and
• needed to consider the commercial sensitivity of some requests.
We received a formal objection on 6 July 2018. As this was outside the inspection period set out in the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, we were unable to accept
this as an objection. However, we have taken the issues raised into account in our work on the financial statements and the value for money conclusion.

The Council should ensure, in future, that its notice of inspection rights contains accurate and complete contact details; and should make very effort to respond to
questions posed during the inspection period in sufficient time to allow members of the public to exercise their rights.

Areas of audit focus

Our audit planning report identified key areas of focus for our audit of Southampton City Council’s financial statements, and we have identified new risks as set out in
the scope update earlier in this executive summary.  This report sets out our observations and conclusions, including our views on areas which might be conservative,
and where there is potential risk and exposure. We summarise our consideration of these matters, and any others identified, in the "Key Audit Issues" section of this
report.
We ask you to review these and any other matters in this report to ensure:
• there are no other considerations or matters that could have an  impact on these issues;
• you agree with the resolution of the issue; and
• there are no other significant issues to be considered.
There are no matters, apart from those reported by management or disclosed in this report, which we believe should be brought to the attention of the Governance
Committee.

P
age 59



8

Executive Summary

Control observations

We are pleased to report that the Council has made positive progress on in the following areas:
• data for our analytics work was provided to deadlines; and
• the Council has simplified the method used to produce its financial statements from its general ledger. This is a significant achievement.

We have not identified any significant deficiencies in the design or operation of an internal control that might result in a material misstatement in your financial
statements and which is unknown to you.

During the audit we identified one observation and improvement recommendation in relation to management’s financial processes and controls. We issued an audit
progress update to the April 2018 Governance Committee setting out our observations, and this is summarised in Section 7.

Value for money
We have considered your arrangements to take informed decisions; deploy resources in a sustainable manner; and work with partners and other third parties. In our
audit planning report we identified the following significant risks:

• Deploy resources in a sustainable manner: the ability of the Council to deliver the savings required to support the sustainable delivery of services.
• Take informed decisions: compliance with both procurement and contracting policies as part of a sound system of internal control.

We have the following matters to report about your arrangements to secure economy efficiency and effectiveness in your use of resources.

• We are satisfied the Council has appropriate arrangements in place to deliver the savings required to achieve its medium term financial strategy.
• Our review of the Council’s arrangements found the Council has an appropriate procurement and contracting framework in. However, there is non-compliance with

this framework, with the most significant issues being caused by staff failing to engage with the central procurement team. This includes breaches of both legislation
and internal regulations. The consequence of such breaches could include challenge from suppliers, reputational damage to the Council and value for money not
being achieved. We conclude that the Council should put central arrangements in place to monitor and enforce compliance with procurement and contract procedure
rules, with clear consequences for non-compliance.

We anticipate that we will issue an ‘except for’ conclusion: we are satisfied with your proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources except for weaknesses in procuring supplies and services effectively to support the delivery of strategic priorities.

P
age 60



9

Executive Summary

Other reporting issues

We have reviewed the information presented in the Annual Governance Statement for consistency with our knowledge of the Council. We have the following matter to
report as a result of this work:

• The Council has carried out a comprehensive review of effectiveness, and has identified a number of significant governance issues. We requested the Council include
details of the matters giving risk to our qualified conclusion in relation to the weaknesses in procuring supplies and services effectively to support the delivery of
strategic priorities.

• We have not yet performed the procedures required by the National Audit Office (NAO) on the Whole of Government Accounts submission.  We will complete this
work in August ahead of the deadline of end of August.

We have no other matters to report.

Independence

We have no matters relating to our Independence to bring to your attention.

Please refer to Section 9 for our update on Independence.

Use of Specialists

Our planned use specialists has not changed since our audit planning report presented at the 12 February 2018 Governance Committee meeting.

P
age 61



10

Areas of Audit Focus02

P
age 62



11

Areas of Audit Focus

Significant risk
What is the risk?

The financial statements as a whole are not free of material misstatements whether caused by fraud or error.

As identified in ISA (UK and Ireland) 240, management is in a unique position to perpetrate fraud because of its ability
to manipulate accounting records directly or indirectly and prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding
controls that otherwise appear to be operating effectively. We identify and respond to this fraud risk on every audit
engagement. For this local government body, our assessment of risk focused our procedures in areas where the
override of controls would:
• allow revenue expenditure to be met from capital resources;
• allow general fund expenditure to be met from Housing Revenue Account (HRA) resources (or visa versa); or
• benefit either the General Fund or HRA through inappropriate or omitted transactions when adjusting balances

between an accounting basis and funding basis under Regulations.

Misstatements due to
fraud or error

What did we do?

• we tested the appropriateness of journal entries recorded in the general ledger and other
adjustments made in preparing the financial statements;;

• we reviewed accounting estimates for evidence of management bias; and
• we evaluated the business rationale for any significant unusual transactions.

What are our conclusions?

We have not identified any weaknesses in controls or evidence of
management override.

We have not identified any instances of inappropriate judgements
being applied. We have performed detailed testing to of each of
the areas indicated opposite and identified no misstatements or
indications of management override.

We have not identified any inappropriate journals from
completion of our procedures in this area. This testing was
supported by data analytics (See Section 9).

We have not identified any indication of management bias in
accounting estimates.

We did not identify any other transactions during our audit which
appeared unusual or outside the Authority‘s normal course of
business.

What judgements are we focused on?

In addition to undertaking the procedures mandated by ISA240 (shown in the “What did we do?”
section below), our work focussed on the following areas of potential management override:

• testing the appropriateness of Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) charges;
• testing capital additions;
• testing the classification of expenditure treated as Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital

Under Statute (REFCUS);
• testing transfers between the General Fund and the Housing Revenue Account;
• testing adjustments made in the Movement in Reserves Statements; and
• reviewing any changes in MRP accounting policies.

P
age 63



12

Areas of Audit Focus

Significant risk
What is the risk?

Under ISA 240 there is a presumed risk that revenue may be misstated due to improper revenue recognition. In the
public sector, this requirement is modified by Practice Note 10 issued by the Financial Reporting Council, which states
that auditors should also consider the risk that material misstatements may occur by the manipulation of expenditure
recognition.

In the Executive Summary we explained that we identified this risk after the issue of our audit planning report.

Risk of fraud in revenue
and expenditure
recognition

What did we do?
We planned to compare Council’s and the counterparty’s latest positions and conclude on the
materiality of the difference.

What are our conclusions?

We are awaiting receipt of information confirming the Council’s
and their counterparty’s latest position on these guarantees.

We will provide the Governance Committee an update on the
outcome of our procedures on 30th July 2018.

What judgements are we focused on?

We assessed where this risk manifests itself on this audit and are satisfied it is limited to the
following area.

As part of the Strategic Services Partnership, the Council has agreed procurement and digital
guarantees.

The guarantees have annual amounts which dictate cash payments to Southampton City Council
but the contractual guarantee is cumulative, meaning underperformance in one period can be
offset against over performance in another. While the amounts in any one year are not material,
the cumulative value of the guarantees are material.

The Council has not reached agreement with Capita over the amounts payable under these
guarantees. As such there is subjectivity in the amount to be recognised in 2017/18,

P
age 64



13

Areas of Audit Focus

Other areas of audit focus
What is the risk/area of focus? What did we do? What are our findings?

Valuation of Land and Buildings
The fair value of Property, Plant and
Equipment (PPE) and Investment
Properties (IP) represent significant
balances in the Council’s accounts and
are subject to valuation changes,
impairment reviews and depreciation
charges. Management is required to
make material judgemental inputs and
apply estimation techniques to
calculate the year-end balances
recorded in the balance sheet.

The procedures we undertook were to:
• consider the work performed by the Council’s valuer,

including the adequacy of the scope of the work performed,
their professional capabilities and the results of their work;

• sample testing key asset information used by the valuer in
performing their valuation;

• consider the annual cycle of valuations to ensure that assets
have been valued within a 5 year rolling programme as
required by the Code for PPE and annually for IP. We have
also considered if there are any specific changes to assets
that have occurred and that these have been communicated
to the valuer;

• review assets not subject to valuation in 2017/18 to confirm
that the remaining asset base is not materially misstated;
and

• test accounting entries have been correctly processed in the
financial statements,

Our work in this area is largely complete.

As a result of the work completed to date our only finding is
that Studio 144 was incorrectly classified as an Investment
Property when it should have been classified as Property,
Plant and Equipment (PPE).

The Code defines Investment Properties as ‘property held
solely to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both.’

As the property delivers services to the public, namely a
theatre and an art gallery, it should be reclassified as
Property, Plant and Equipment.

This reclassification to PPE means that Studio 144 will need
to be revalued on a different valuation basis. We have
recently received the revised valuation from the Council and
are in the process of auditing it.

Management has agreed to amend the financial statements
for this audit difference.

We engaged internal specialists from our Real Estates team
to support us when making these judgements and testing
the valuations prepared by the Council’s valuer.

We will provide the Governance Committee with an update
on the outcome of our procedures on 30th July 2018.

P
age 65



14

Areas of Audit Focus

Other areas of audit focus
What is the risk/area of focus? What did we do? What are our findings?

Pension Asset/Liability Valuation
The Local Authority Accounting Code of Practice and
IAS19 require the Council to make extensive disclosures
within its financial statements regarding its membership
of the Local Government Pension Scheme administered
by Hampshire County Council.

The Council’s pension fund deficit is a material estimated
balance and the Code requires that this liability be
disclosed on the Council’s balance sheet.
The information disclosed is based on the IAS 19 report
issued to the Council by the actuary to the County
Council.

Accounting for this scheme involves significant
estimation and judgement and therefore management
engages an actuary to undertake the calculations on their
behalf. ISAs (UK and Ireland) 500 and 540 require us to
undertake procedures on the use of management experts
and the assumptions underlying fair value estimates.

The procedures we undertook were to:

• liaise with the auditors of Hampshire Pension
Fund,  to obtain assurances over the
information supplied to the actuary in
relation to Southampton City Council;

• assess the work of the Pension Fund actuary
including the assumptions they have used by
relying on the work of PWC - Consulting
Actuaries commissioned by the National
Audit Office for all Local Government sector
auditors, and considering any relevant
reviews by the EY actuarial team; and

• review and test the accounting entries and
disclosures made within the Council’s
financial statements in relation to IAS19.

Our work in this area is complete.

We have received the assurances from the Hampshire
Pension Fund auditors, and are able to rely on the work of
the Pension Fund actuary.

We tested the accounting entries and disclosures in the
Council’s financial statements, they were consistent with
the report of the Pension Fund actuary.

We have one finding from our review of available outturn
information.  For timing reasons, the actuary estimates
the value of the pension fund assets at 31 March 2018.
This estimate was approximately £31m lower than the
actual fund value as at 31 March 2018. Southampton
City Council’s estimated share of this variance is
£3,766k.

Management has provided a rationale for not adjusting
their accounts for this difference in the draft Letter of
Representation.

We agree that this unadjusted difference is not material
to the 2017/18 financial statements.

We ask that the rationale be approved by the Governance
Committee and included in the signed Letter of
Representation.

P
age 66



15

Areas of Audit Focus

Other areas of audit focus
What is the risk/area of focus? What did we do? What are our findings?

PFI (Private Finance Initiatives)
accounting
The Council has two PFIs on its
Balance Sheet: PFI Schools and
PFI Street Lighting.
Accounting for PFI is a complex
area.
The PFI Schools and PFI Street
Lighting had not been reviewed
by a specialist since EY took
over as your external auditors.
We had been relying on
specialist reviews undertaken by
the Audit Commission, updated
by a work program completed
annually by the audit team.
Due to the time lapsed since
these arrangements have been
subject to specialist review, we
determined it was appropriate
to review them this year.

The procedures we undertook
were to:

• review assurances brought
forward from prior years
regarding the appropriateness
of the PFI accounting models;
• review the underlying
contracts and subsequent
variations;
• test the appropriateness of
the PFI accounting models
including all inputs and
assumptions;
• agree outputs of the
accounting models to the
accounts; and
• review the completeness and
accuracy of disclosures.

Our work in this area is complete. Our work identified the following issues with the PFI accounting
models:
PFI Schools
When the PFI assets (the schools) were originally recognised on the balance sheet their cost was
overstated. Subsequent revaluations mean that the carrying value of the assets has been corrected
but the balance in the Revaluation Reserve is understated. By 31 March 2018, this understatement
would have subsequently been offset through historic cost adjustments to the Capital Adjustment
Account.

By 31 March 2018, the impact of this reduction in cost of the PFI assets would have resulted in an
increase in interest costs of £2,813k over the life of the contract. This would have been offset by an
equal and opposite reduction in Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) charges, leaving no net impact on
the General Fund balance.

To aid understandability, we have shown the net impact of these changes in Section 4.

PFI Street Lighting
The Council’s accounting model used indexed inputs to calculate the internal rate of return. The
CIPFA Local Authority Accounting Code of Practice is clear that unindexed inputs should be used. By
31st March 2018, the impact of adjusting the accounting model would be a decrease in interest costs
of £716k over the life of the contract with a corresponding increase in the long term PFI creditor.
This would have been offset by an equal and opposite reduction in Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)
charges.

To aid understandability, we have shown the net impact of these changes in Section 4.

Management has provided a rationale for not adjusting their accounts for these differences in the
draft Letter of Representation. We agree that these unadjusted differences are not material to the
2017/18 financial statements. We ask that the rationale be approved by the Governance Committee
and included in the signed Letter of Representation.

Our work identified no other issues with the PFI accounting models or entries and disclosures in the
financial statements.

Management has agreed to correct the unadjusted differences in their 2018/19 financials
statements.

P
age 67



16

Areas of Audit Focus

Earlier deadline for production of the financial statements
The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 introduced a significant change in statutory deadlines from the 2017/18 financial year. The timetable for the preparation and
approval of accounts was brought forward with draft accounts needing to be prepared by 31 May and the publication of the accounts by 31 July. These changes
provided challenges for both the preparers and the auditors of the financial statements. While these deadlines were met last year (in advance of need), it was important
for both parties to continue to work together to ensure this success was repeated. As your auditor, we now have a more significant peak in our audit work and a shorter
period to complete the audit. Risks for auditors relate to delivery of all audits within same compressed timetable. Slippage at one client could potentially put delivery of
others at risk. We:
• provided the Council our working paper and data analytics requests for the early substantive testing in December 2017;
• worked with the Council to facilitate early substantive testing (March 2018);
• facilitated faster close workshops to provide an interactive forum for Local Authority accountants and auditors to share good practice and ideas to enable us all to

achieve a successful faster closure of accounts for the 2017/18 financial year;
• agreed the team and timing of each element of our work with management; and
• agreed with management the supporting working papers that we require to complete our audit during our planned visit in May / June 2018.

We identified the following additional specific risks to delivery at this Council:
• slippage in delivering data for analytics work; and
• the complex method the Council adopts to produce its financial statements from its ledger.

We are pleased to report that:
• data for our analytics work was provided to deadlines; and
• the Council has simplified the method used to produce its financial statements from its ledger. This is a significant achievement.

Looking forward to 2018/19, we are engaged in ongoing discussions with the finance team to simplify and improve their working papers. We are hopeful that this will
enable us to conclude the audit in a shorter period.

Assessment of Group Boundary: As in the prior year, the Council identified and considered all of its arrangements and assessed them to determine whether they require
consolidation into group accounts. The Council determined that no consolidation was required on the basis of materiality. We critically reviewing the reasonableness of
the Council’s judgement.  We agreed with the Council’s assessment that the production of group accounts was not required on the basis of materiality.

IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 implementation: new accounting standards relating to fair value measurement and revenue from contracts come into effect on 1 April 2018. The
Council has undertaken an assessment of its implications, it has concluded that IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 is unlikely to have a material impact on the single entity financial
statements of the Council . We concur with the Council’s initial assessment.

Other matters

P
age 68



17

Audit Report03

P
age 69



18

Audit Report

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Southampton City Council for the year ended 31 March 2018 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. The
financial statements comprise the Authority Movement in Reserves Statement; Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement; Balance Sheet; Cash Flow
Statement; related notes 1 to 40 and the Expenditure Funding Analysis; the Housing Revenue Account Income and Expenditure Statement; Statement of Movement
on the Housing Revenue Account and related notes 1 to 5; and the Collection Fund and related notes 1 to 2.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18.

In our opinion the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the financial position of Southampton City Council as at 31 March 2018 and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended;

and
• have been prepared properly in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report below. We are independent of the authority in
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard and the
Comptroller and Auditor General’s AGN01, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where:
• the Section 151 Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or
• the Section 151 Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Authority’s

ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are
authorised for issue.

Our draft audit report

Draft audit report

P
age 70



19

Audit Report

Other information
The other information comprises the following information published with the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon: the Preface, Narrative Statement,
Statement of Responsibilities, Glossary and Annual Governance Statement.  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for the other information.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such
material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a
material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information,
we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014

Arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in use of resources

Basis for Qualified Conclusion
In August 2017, following concerns raised with us in relation to possible impropriety in procurement and contracting arrangements, investigations undertaken found:
• breaches of legislation as a result of non-compliance with the Council’s procurement processes; and
• non-compliance with internal procurement rules for nominating subcontractors.
This issue is evidence of weaknesses in proper arrangements for procuring supplies and services effectively to support the delivery of strategic priorities.

Qualified conclusion
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller & Auditor General in August 2017,
with the exception of the matter(s) reported in the basis for qualified conclusion paragraph above, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects, Southampton City
Council put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2018.

Matters on which we report by exception
We report to you if:
• in our opinion the annual governance statement is misleading or inconsistent with other information forthcoming from the audit or our knowledge of the Council;

Our draft audit report

P
age 71



20

Audit Report

• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014;
• we make written recommendations to the audited body under Section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014;
• we make an application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary to law under Section 28 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014;
• we issue an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or
• we make an application for judicial review under Section 31 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.
We have nothing to report in these respects.

Responsibility of the Section 151 Officer
As explained more fully in the Statement of the Section 151 Officer’s Responsibilities set out on page 22, the Section 151 Officer is responsible for the preparation of
the Statement of Accounts, which includes the financial statements, in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18, and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.

In preparing the financial statements, the Section 151 Officer is responsible for assessing the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Authority either intends to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Authority is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper
stewardship and governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at
https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.  This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and
Auditor General in August 2017, as to whether Southampton City Council had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed
resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criterion as that
necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether Southampton City Council put in place proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2018.

Our draft audit report on the financial statements

P
age 72



21

Audit Report

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a
view on whether, in all significant respects, Southampton City Council had put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use
of resources.

We are required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to satisfy ourselves that the Authority has made proper arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. The Code of Audit Practice issued by the National Audit Office (NAO) requires us to report to
you our conclusion relating to proper arrangements.

We report if significant matters have come to our attention which prevent us from concluding that the Authority has put in place proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the Authority’s
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.

Delay in certification of completion of the audit
We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate until we have completed the work necessary to issue our assurance statement in respect of the
Authority’s Whole of Government Accounts consolidation pack. We are satisfied that this work does not have a material effect on the financial statements or on our
value for money conclusion.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the members of Southampton City Council, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and for
no other purpose, as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments
Limited. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Southampton City Council  and the Southampton
City Council members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Helen Thompson (Associate Partner)
Ernst & Young LLP (Local Auditor)
Southampton
XX July 2018

The maintenance and integrity of the Southampton City Council web site is the responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve
consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since they
were initially presented on the web site.
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Our draft audit report on the financial statements

P
age 73



22

Audit Differences04

P
age 74



23

Audit Differences

In the normal course of any audit, we identify misstatements between amounts we believe should be recorded in the financial statements and the disclosures and
amounts actually recorded. These differences are classified as “known” or “judgemental”. Known differences represent items that can be accurately quantified and
relate to a definite set of facts or circumstances. Judgemental differences generally involve estimation and relate to facts or circumstances that are uncertain or open to
interpretation.

We would highlight adjusted misstatements greater than £9.6m which have been corrected by management that were identified during the course of our audit. We have
identified no such errors to date. We will provide a verbal update to the Governance Committee after completion of our outstanding procedures listed in the Executive
Summary.

Summary of adjusted differences

P
age 75



24

Audit Differences

In addition we highlight the following misstatements to the financial statements and/or disclosures which were not corrected by management. Management has
provided a rationale for not adjusting their accounts for these differences in the draft Letter of Representation. We agree that these unadjusted differences are not
individually or cumulatively material to the 2017/18 financial statements. We ask that the rationale be approved by the Governance Committee and included in the
signed Letter of Representation.

Summary of unadjusted differences

Uncorrected misstatements
31 March 2018 (£000)

Effect on the
current period:

Balance Sheet
(Decrease)/Increase

CIES
Debit/(Credit)

Assets current
Debit/

(Credit)

Assets non
current Debit/

(Credit)

Liabilities
current Debit/

(Credit)

Liabilities non-
current Debit/

(Credit)

Errors- Known differences.

PFI Schools - details reported in Section 2 (net impact)

• Interest expense (total impact from start of contract) 2,813

• Long Term creditor - PFI Liability 2,715

• Revaluation Reserve (4,533)

• Capital Adjustment Account 1,818

• General Fund (2,813)

PFI Street lighting - details reported in Section 2 (net impact)

• Interest expense (total impact from start of contract) (716)

• Long Term creditor - PFI Liability 716

• Capital Adjustment Account (716)

• General Fund 716

Details reported in Section 2 under Pension Asset/Liability Valuation.

• Pension liability 3,766

• Pension reserve (3,766)

Balance sheet totals 7,197 (9,294)

Income effect of uncorrected misstatements 2,097

P
age 76



25

Audit Differences

In addition we highlight the following misstatements to the financial statements and/or disclosures which were not corrected by management. Management has provided
a rationale for not adjusting their accounts for these differences in the draft Letter of Representation. We agree that these unadjusted differences are not individually or
cumulatively material to the 2017/18 financial statements. We ask that the rationale be approved by the Governance Committee and included in the signed Letter of
Representation.

Summary of unadjusted differences

Uncorrected disclosure misstatement

PFI Schools. Note 31 – future obligations. As a result of the unadjusted errors to the PFI liability recorded above, the future interest obligations will be understated by £2,715k and the
finance lease liability repayments overstated by a corresponding amount.

PFI Street lighting. Note 31 – future obligations. As a result of the unadjusted errors to the PFI liability recorded above, the future interest obligations will be understated by £716k and
the finance lease liability repayments overstated by a corresponding amount.

P
age 77



26

Value for Money Risks05 01V
F
M

P
age 78



27

Value for Money
Background

We are required to consider whether the Council has put in place ‘proper arrangements’ to secure
economy, efficiency and effectiveness on its use of resources. This is known as our value for money
conclusion.

For 2018/19 this is based on the overall evaluation criterion:

“In all significant respects, the audited body had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed
decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local
people”

Proper arrangements are defined by statutory guidance issued by the National Audit Office. They comprise
your arrangements to:

§ Take informed decisions;
§ Deploy resources in a sustainable manner; and
§ Work with partners and other third parties.

In considering your proper arrangements, we will draw on the requirements of the CIPFA/SOLACE
framework for local government to ensure that our assessment is made against a framework that you are
already required to have in place and to report on through documents such as your annual governance
statement.

V
F
M

Proper arrangements for
securing value for money

Informed
decision making

Working with
partners and
third parties

Sustainable
resource

deployment

We identified two significant risks around these arrangements. The tables below present our findings in response to the risks in our audit planning report.

We therefore expect having the following matters to report about your arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in your use of resources.
• We are satisfied the Council has appropriate arrangements in place to deliver the savings required to achieve its medium term financial strategy.
• Our review of the Council’s arrangements found the Council has an appropriate procurement and contracting framework in. However, there is non-compliance with

this framework, with the most significant issues being caused by staff failing to engage with the central procurement team. This includes breaches of both legislation
and internal regulations. The consequence of such breaches could include challenge from suppliers, reputational damage to the Council and value for money not
being achieved. We conclude that the Council should put central arrangements in place to monitor and enforce compliance with procurement and contract procedure
rules, with clear consequences for non-compliance.

We anticipate that we will issue an ‘except for’ conclusion: we are satisfied with your proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources except for weaknesses in procuring supplies and services effectively to support the delivery of strategic priorities.

Overall conclusion

P
age 79



28

Value for Money

Value for Money Risks

V
F
M

We are only required to determine whether there are any risks that we consider significant within the Code of Audit Practice, where risk is defined as:
“A matter is significant if, in the auditor’s professional view, it is reasonable to conclude that the matter would be of interest to the audited body or the wider public”
Our risk assessment supports the planning of enough work to deliver a safe conclusion on your arrangements to secure value for money, and enables us to determine the
nature and extent of any further work needed. If we do not identify a significant risk we do not need to carry out further work.
We present below the findings of our work in response to the risks areas in our Audit Planning Report.

What is the significant value for money risk?

Compliance with both procurement and contracting policies as part of a sound system of internal control

Working with partners and other third parties through in procuring supplies and services effectively to support the delivery of strategic priorities

Review of the Council’s arrangements found the Council has an appropriate procurement and contracting framework in place. However, there is non-compliance with this
framework, with the most significant instances being caused by staff failing to engage with the central procurement teamThis includes:
• non compliance with EC Procurement Regulations that require contracts over set thresholds to be awarded using an OJEU (Official Journal of the European Union)

compliant procurement. For one contract over these thresholds, guidance was issued in 2017 by the central procurement team to go to market through the
appropriate procurement route. This action still has not been completed.

• failure to adhere to internal procurement rules for nominating subcontractors.
• significant levels of non-compliance with the sub £100k procurement process. This has been regularly reported to the Governance Committee.

Potential consequences of these breaches could include: challenge from suppliers, reputational damage to the Council and value for money not being achieved.
While auditors do not need to gather evidence of outcomes in order to conclude on the adequacy of arrangements in place, we are required to take account of evidence
drawn from outcomes where it suggests that there may be significant weaknesses in arrangements. We have considered outcomes related to these arrangements, most
notably in the case of Studio 144.
Fundamentally, central arrangements need to be put in place to monitor and enforce compliance with procurement and contract procedure rules. There must be clear
consequences for those who fail to comply.

The Council should put central arrangements in place to monitor and enforce compliance with procurement and contract procedure rules, with clear consequences for
non-compliance.

What arrangements does the risk affect?

What are our findings?

What is our conclusion?

P
age 80



29

Value for MoneyV
F
M

What is the significant value for money risk?

The Council’s ability to deliver the savings required to support the sustainable delivery of services

Deploying resources in a sustainable manner

• reviewing achievement of the 2017/18 budget.
• reviewing achievement of planned savings in 2017/18; and
• reviewing the arrangement in place to deliver the savings plans in 2018/19 onwards.

The 2017/18 financial outturn reported a portfolio overspend of (£3.3m) compared to (£3.67m) in 2016/17. After savings in other areas, release of the risk reserve
and approved movements from balances, the Council’s outturn allowed an additional transfer to reserves of £5.04m (£4.97m in 2016/17). This contributed to the in
year increase in General Fund reserves of £12.5m.

The largest portfolio overspend was in Health and Adult Social Care (£3.7m) in 2017/18 compared to (£5.46m) 2016/17. This was consistently identified and monitored
in corporate financial monitoring reports throughout the year.  This will continue to be a key area of focus for the Council in 2018/19. Arrangements are in place to
monitor savings through intensive care budget meetings chaired by the Chief Executive.

As year end, the Council achieved savings of £18.54m against its 2017/18 savings target of £23.93m. This represents 77% of the target. The RAG rating of each
individual scheme and the forecast year end position is updated monthly. This is reported to directors, Council’s Management Team (CMT) and the Cabinet Member for
Finance. It is also taken to Cabinet through quarterly financial monitoring reports. These reports accurately projected achieved savings throughout the year.

We have reviewed the Council’s MTFS and arrangements to deliver its planned savings in 2018/19. The Council’s budgeted saving plans for 2018/19 are £24.4m. We
have reviewed the process to identify and agree detailed savings plans for 2018/19 and found it to be robust. As in 2017/18, appropriate arrangements are in place to
ensure accountability and good governance through monitoring of savings by Service Directors, the Council’s Management Team and Cabinet. The Council is currently
forecasting achieving 90% or £22.1m of its 2018/19 savings target (as at Q1). Any shortfall in delivering these savings plans could be offset against earmarked reserves
held by the Council, such as the £32.1m MTFS reserve that has prudently been set aside for this purpose.

Based on the factors and considerations set out above, we consider that the Council continues to have appropriate arrangements in place to deliver services sustainably.

What is our conclusion?

What are our findings?

What arrangements does the risk affect?

Our approach

P
age 81



30

Other reporting issues06 01

P
age 82



31

Consistency of other information published with the financial statements, including the Annual Governance Statement

We must give an opinion on the consistency of the financial and non-financial information in the Financial Statements 2017/18 with the audited financial statements.

Financial information in the Financial Statements 2017/18 and published with the financial statements was consistent with the audited financial statements.

We must also review the Annual Governance Statement for completeness of disclosures, consistency with other information from our work, and whether it complies
with relevant guidance.

We have the following matter to report as a result of this work:

• The Council has carried out a comprehensive review of effectiveness, and has identified a number of significant governance issues. We requested the Council
include details of the matters giving risk to our qualified conclusion in relation to the weaknesses in procuring supplies and services effectively to support the
delivery of strategic priorities.

Other reporting issues

Other reporting issues

Whole of Government Accounts

Alongside our work on the financial statements, we also review and report to the National Audit Office on your Whole of Government Accounts return. The extent of
our review, and the nature of our report, is specified by the National Audit Office.

We are planning to complete our work prior to the deadline in August 2018 and will report any matters arising to the Governance Committee.

P
age 83



32

Other powers and duties

We have a duty under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to consider whether to report on any matter that comes to our attention in the course of the audit,
either for the Council to consider it or to bring it to the attention of the public (i.e. “a report in the public interest”). We did not identify any issues which required us to
issue a report in the public interest.

We also have a duty to make written recommendations to the Council, copied to the Secretary of State, and take action in accordance with our responsibilities under
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. We did not identify any issues.

We did not receive a valid objection to the 2017/18 accounts from the public. However, we note the observations made in the Executive Summary.

Other reporting issues

Other reporting issues

Other matters

As required by ISA (UK&I) 260 and other ISAs specifying communication requirements, we must tell you significant findings from the audit and other matters if they
are significant to your oversight of the Authority’s financial reporting process. They include the following.

• significant qualitative aspects of accounting practices including accounting policies, accounting estimates and financial statement disclosures;
• any significant difficulties encountered during the audit;
• any significant matters arising from the audit that were discussed with management;
• written representations we have requested;
• expected modifications to the audit report;
• any other matters significant to overseeing the financial reporting process;
• findings and issues around the opening balance on initial audits (if applicable);
• related parties;
• external confirmations;
• going concern;
• consideration of laws and regulations.

The matters we need to report to you are:
• management made a prior year adjustment to correct an error in Note 31 – future minimum lease payments under operating leases. This is appropriately disclosed

in Note 5 of the financial statements.
• we have requested a rationale as to why the unadjusted errors, reported in Section 5, have not been corrected be included in the Letter of Representation;
• we have requested one investment confirmation that has not been provided by a counterparty; and
• while completing our procedures on the VFM conclusion, we have become aware of non compliance with laws and regulations. This relates to non compliance with

EC Procurement Regulations that require contracts over set thresholds to be awarded using an OJEU (Official Journal of the European Union) compliant
procurement.

P
age 84



33

Assessment of Control
Environment07

P
age 85



34

Assessment of Control Environment

It is the responsibility of the Council to develop and implement systems of internal financial control and to put in place proper arrangements to monitor their adequacy
and effectiveness in practice. Our responsibility as your auditor is to consider whether the Council has put adequate arrangements in place to satisfy itself that the
systems of internal financial control are both adequate and effective in practice.
As part of our audit of the financial statements, we obtained an understanding of internal control sufficient to plan our audit and determine the nature, timing and
extent of testing performed. As we have adopted a fully substantive approach, we have therefore not tested the operation of controls.
Although our audit was not designed to express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control we are required to communicate to you significant deficiencies in
internal control.
We have not identified any significant deficiencies in the design or operation of an internal control that might result in a material misstatement in your financial
statements of which you are not aware.

During the audit we identified one observation and improvement recommendation in relation to management’s financial processes and controls:

• Our Income Collection and Banking walkthrough identified that vendor accounts were not being updated in a timely manner on receipt of payments. In November
2017, approximately £3m of receipts were held in a cash suspense account, unmatched to vendor accounts. This means that vendor accounts would appear to be in
arrears when they had in actual fact been paid, and  could lead to arrears recovery action being inappropriately taken. We reported this issue to the Service Director
Finance & Commercialisation in November 2017 and the issue was promptly rectified.

Financial controls

Our review and evaluation of controls is performed in conjunction with Internal Audit to minimise duplication and to rely on their work where appropriate.
We continue to work closely with Internal Audit to co-ordinate the delivery of the assurance work. During the year we have met with Internal Audit on a number of
occasions to discuss the scope of their work and their findings.

We have reviewed Internal Audit reports issued to management during the period to 20 July 2018 and selected working papers to ensure that any financial statement
risks identified are considered in determining the extent of our audit procedures.

Reliance on internal audit

P
age 86



35

Data Analytics08

P
age 87



36

Data Analytics

Analytics Driven Audit Data analytics
We used our data analysers to enable us to capture entire populations of your financial data. These analysers:

• Help identify specific exceptions and anomalies which can then be the focus of our substantive audit tests;
and

• Give greater likelihood of identifying errors than traditional, random sampling techniques.

In 2017/18, our use of these analysers in the authority’s audit included testing journal entries and employee
expenses, to identify and focus our testing on those entries we deem to have the highest inherent risk to the
audit.

We capture the data through our formal data requests and the data transfer takes place on a secured EY
website. These are in line with our EY data protection policies which are designed to protect the confidentiality,
integrity and availability of business and personal information.

Journal Entry Analysis
We obtain downloads of all financial ledger transactions posted in the year. We perform completeness analysis
over the data, reconciling the sum of transactions to the movement in the trial balances and financial
statements to ensure we have captured all data. Our analysers then review and sort transactions, allowing us
to more effectively identify and test journals that we consider to be higher risk, as identified in our audit
planning report.

Payroll Analysis
We also use our analysers in our payroll testing. We obtain all payroll transactions posted in the year from the
payroll system and perform completeness analysis over the data, including reconciling the total amount to the
General Ledger trial balance. We then analyse the data against a number of specifically designed procedures.
These include analysis of payroll costs by month to identify any variances from established expectations, as
well as more detailed transactional interrogation.

P
age 88



37

Independence09

P
age 89



38

Independence

We confirm that there are no changes in our assessment of independence since our confirmation in our audit planning board report dated February 2018.

We complied with the FRC Ethical Standards and the requirements of the PSAA’s Terms of Appointment. In our professional judgement the firm is independent and
the objectivity of the audit engagement partner and audit staff has not been compromised within the meaning of regulatory and professional requirements.

We consider that our independence in this context is a matter which you should review, as well as us. It is important that you and your Governance Committee
consider the facts known to you and come to a view. If you would like to discuss any matters concerning our independence, we will be pleased to do this at the
meeting of the Governance Committee on 30 July 2018.

Confirmation

P
age 90



39

Independence

Relationships, services and related threats and safeguards

The FRC Ethical Standard requires that we provide details of all relationships between Ernst & Young (EY) and your Council, and its directors and senior management
and its affiliates, including all services provided by us and our network to your Council, its directors and senior management and its affiliates, and other services
provided to other known connected parties that we consider may reasonably be thought to bear on the our integrity or objectivity, including those that could
compromise independence and the related safeguards that are in place and why they address the threats.

There are no relationships from 1 April 2017 to the date of this report, which we consider may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and objectivity.

Services provided by Ernst & Young

Below includes a summary of the fees that you have paid to us in the year ended 31 March 2018 in line with the disclosures set out in FRC Ethical Standard and in
statute.

As at the date of this report, there are no future services which have been contracted and no written proposal to provide non-audit services has been submitted.

P
age 91



40

Independence

Fee analysis
As part of our reporting on our independence, we set out below a summary of the fees paid for the year ended 31 March 2018].

We confirm that we have not undertaken non-audit work outside the Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd. (PSAA) Code requirements.

Final Fee
2017/18

Planned Fee
2078/18

Scale Fee
2017/18

Final Fee
2016/17

£ £ £ £

Total Audit Fee – Code work TBC* 142,715 142,715 147,101****

Non-audit work [Housing Benefit Subsidy grant claim] TBC** 19,524 19.524*** 15,204*****

Total non-audit services TBC 19,524 19,524 15,204

*The final fee for the 2017/18 account audit is still to be quantified. We anticipate an increase in fee above the scale fee, to be agreed with the Service
Director of Finance and Commercialisation (s151 officer) in relation to the additional work related to:

• the matters giving rise to the anticipated ‘except for’ conclusion on the Council’s proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources;

• correspondence related to a formal objection; and
• involvement of an auditor’s specialist in the audit of property valuations.

These will also need to be approved by PSAA. The final fee will be reported to you in our Annual Audit Letter.

** Our final fee for the 2017/18 HB certification will be reported to you in our Grant Claim Certification Report once the work is complete. The
deadline for completion of this work is 30th November 2018.

*** The scope of the 2017/18 HB certification has been agreed with officers. In 2016/17, the Council performed some of the initial Housing Benefit
certification testing itself in return for a reduction in fee. For 2017/18 it has been agreed that we will revert to the previous arrangement where we
completed the initial testing, hence the increase in fee.

**** We reported to you in our July 2017 Audit Results Report that for 2016/17 that a fee variation of £4,386 was agreed for additional work in:
agreeing your financial statements to the general ledger (due to the complexity of the methodology) and assessing the impact of uncorrected errors.

***** We reported to you in our July 2017 Audit Results Report that for 2016/17, the Council performed some of the initial Housing Benefit
certification testing itself in return for a 20% or £3,801 reduction in our fee. This has now been agreed with PSAA.

P
age 92



41

Appendices10

P
age 93



42

Appendix A

Audit approach update
We summarise below our approach to the audit of the balance sheet and any changes to this approach from the prior year audit.

Our audit procedures are designed to be responsive to our assessed risk of material misstatement at the relevant assertion level. Assertions relevant to the balance
sheet include:

• Existence: An asset, liability and equity interest exists at a given date

• Rights and Obligations: An asset, liability and equity interest pertains to the entity at a given date

• Completeness: There are no unrecorded assets, liabilities, and equity interests, transactions or events, or undisclosed items

• Valuation: An asset, liability and equity interest is recorded at an appropriate amount and any resulting valuation or allocation adjustments are appropriately
recorded

• Presentation and Disclosure: Assets, liabilities and equity interests are appropriately aggregated or disaggregated, and classified, described and disclosed
in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. Disclosures are relevant and understandable in the context of the applicable financial reporting
framework

Balance sheet category Audit Approach in prior year Audit Approach in current year Explanation for change

Short term debtors
Short term creditors
Cash

We tested controls over all relevant
assertions which reduced the extent of
substantive testing required to be
performed in accordance with auditing
standards

Substantively tested all relevant
assertions. We placed no  reliance on the
operation of controls.

The reason for the change was efficiency.
There is no change in the level of
assurance provided by our work.

All other areas Substantively tested all relevant
assertions. We placed no  reliance on the
operation of controls.

Substantively tested all relevant
assertions. We placed no  reliance on the
operation of controls.

No change

P
age 94



43

Appendix B

Summary of communications

In addition to the above specific meetings, with senior members of the audit team and management, the audit team met with the management team multiple times
throughout the audit to discuss audit progress.

Date Nature Summary

20th November
2017

Meeting The partner in charge of the engagement, along with other senior members of the audit team, met with the management
team to discuss progress and developments.

9th January 2018 Meeting The partner in charge of the engagement, along with other senior members of the audit team, met with the management
team to discuss progress and developments.

1st February 2018 Report The audit planning report, including confirmation of independence, was issued to the Governance Committee.

12th February 2018 Committee The partner in charge of the engagement, accompanied by other senior members of the audit team, met with the
Governance Committee and senior members of the management team to discuss progress and developments.

20th February 2018 Meeting The partner in charge of the engagement, along with other senior members of the audit team, met with the management
(including the Chief Executive) to discuss progress and developments.

11th April 2018 Meeting The partner in charge of the engagement, along with other senior members of the audit team, met with the management
team to discuss progress and developments.

23rd April 2018 Committee The partner in charge of the engagement, accompanied by other senior members of the audit team, met with the
Governance Committee and senior members of the management team to discuss the audit progress report.

9th May 2018 Meeting The partner in charge of the engagement, accompanied by other senior members of the audit team, met with the
Governance Committee and senior members of the management team to discuss progress and developments.

20th June 2018 Meeting Audit close meeting with the management team to discuss the preliminary findings of the audit.

20th July 2018 Report The audit results report, including confirmation of independence, was issued to the Governance Committee.

30th July 2018 Committee The partner in charge of the engagement, accompanied by other senior members of the audit team, met with the
Governance Committee and senior members of the management team to discuss the audit results report.

P
age 95



44

Appendix C

Required communications with the Governance Committee
There are certain communications that we must provide to the audit committees of UK clients. We have detailed these here together with a reference of when and where
they were covered:

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Terms of engagement Confirmation by the Governance Committee of acceptance of terms of engagement as
written in the engagement letter signed by both parties.

The statement of responsibilities serves as the
formal terms of engagement between the
PSAA’s appointed auditors and audited bodies.

Our responsibilities Reminder of our responsibilities as set out in the engagement letter. Audit planning report February 2018

Planning and audit
approach

Communication of the planned scope and timing of the audit, any limitations and the
significant risks identified.

Audit planning report February 2018

Significant findings
from the audit

• Our view about the significant qualitative aspects of accounting practices including
accounting policies, accounting estimates and financial statement disclosures

• Significant difficulties, if any, encountered during the audit
• Significant matters, if any, arising from the audit that were discussed with management
• Written representations that we are seeking
• Expected modifications to the audit report
• Other matters if any, significant to the oversight of the financial reporting process

Audit Results Report 20 July 2018

P
age 96



45

Appendix C

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Going concern Events or conditions identified that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability
to continue as a going concern, including:
• Whether the events or conditions constitute a material uncertainty
• Whether the use of the going concern assumption is appropriate in the preparation

and presentation of the financial statements
• The adequacy of related disclosures in the financial statements

No conditions or events were identified, either
individually or together to raise any doubt
about  Southampton City Council’s ability to
continue for the 12 months from the date of
our report

Misstatements • Uncorrected misstatements and their effect on our audit opinion
• The effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods
• A request that any uncorrected misstatement be corrected
• Material misstatements corrected by management

Audit Results Report 20 July 2018

Subsequent events • Enquiry of the Governance Committee where appropriate regarding whether any
subsequent events have occurred that might affect the financial statements.

By letter of representation  request in Audit
Results Report 16 July 2018

Fraud • Enquiries of the Governance Committee to determine whether they have knowledge of
any actual, suspected or alleged fraud affecting the Council

• Any fraud that we have identified or information we have obtained that indicates that a
fraud may exist

• Unless all of those charged with governance are involved in managing the Council, any
identified or suspected fraud involving:
a. Management;
b. Employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
c. Others where the fraud results in a material misstatement in the financial statements.

• The nature, timing and extent of audit procedures necessary to complete the audit when
fraud involving management is suspected

• Any other matters related to fraud, relevant to Governance Committee responsibility.

Audit Results Report 20 July 2018

P
age 97



46

Appendix C
Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Related parties Significant matters arising during the audit in connection with the Council’s related parties
including, when applicable:
• Non-disclosure by management
• Inappropriate authorisation and approval of transactions
• Disagreement over disclosures
• Non-compliance with laws and regulations
• Difficulty in identifying the party that ultimately controls the Council

Audit Results Report 20 July 2018

Independence Communication of all significant facts and matters that bear on EY’s, and all individuals
involved in the audit, objectivity and independence.
Communication of key elements of the audit engagement partner’s consideration of
independence and objectivity such as:
• The principal threats
• Safeguards adopted and their effectiveness
• An overall assessment of threats and safeguards
• Information about the general policies and process within the firm to maintain objectivity

and independence
Communications whenever significant judgments are made about threats to objectivity and
independence and the appropriateness of safeguards put in place.

Audit planning report February 2018
and
Audit Results Report 20 July 2018P

age 98



47

Appendix C

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

External confirmations • Management’s refusal for us to request confirmations
• Inability to obtain relevant and reliable audit evidence from other procedures.

We have requested investment confirmation
that has not been provided by a counterparty.
We will provide a verbal update to the
Governance Committee on 30th July 2018.

Consideration of laws
and regulations

• Subject to compliance with applicable regulations, matters involving identified or
suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations, other than those which are clearly
inconsequential and the implications thereof. Instances of suspected non-compliance
may also include those that are brought to our attention that are expected to occur
imminently or for which there is reason to believe that they may occur

• Enquiry of the Governance Committee into possible instances of non-compliance with
laws and regulations that may have a material effect on the financial statements and that
the Governance Committee may be aware of

We have asked management and those
charged with governance by letter of
representation. We have not identified any
material instances or non-compliance with
laws and regulations.

Significant deficiencies in
internal controls identified
during the audit

• Significant deficiencies in internal controls identified during the audit. Audit Results Report 20 July 2018

Written representations
we are requesting from
management and/or those
charged with governance

• Written representations we are requesting from management and/or those charged with
governance

Audit Results Report 20 July 2018

Material inconsistencies or
misstatements of fact
identified in other
information which
management has refused
to revise

• Material inconsistencies or misstatements of fact identified in other information which
management has refused to revise

Audit Results Report 20 July 2018

P
age 99



48

Appendix C

Our Reporting to you

Required communications What is reported? When and where

Auditors report • Any circumstances identified that affect the form and content of our auditor’s report Audit Results Report 20 July 2018

Fee Reporting • Breakdown of fee information when the  audit planning report is agreed
• Breakdown of fee information at the completion of the audit
• Any non-audit work

Audit planning report February 2018
and
Audit Results Report 20 July 2018

Certification work • Summary of certification work Certification Report – December 2018

P
age 100



49

Appendix D

Draft management representation letter

[To be prepared on the entity’s letterhead]
[Date]

Ernst & Young LLP
Wessex House,
19 Threefield Lane,
Southampton,
SO14 3QB

This letter of representations is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of Southampton City Council (“the Council”) for the year ended
31st March 2018.  We recognise that obtaining representations from us concerning the information contained in this letter is a significant procedure in enabling you
to form an opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Southampton City Council as of 31st March 2018 and
of its income and expenditure for the year then ended in accordance with CIPFA LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom
2017/18.

We understand that the purpose of your audit of our financial statements is to express an opinion thereon and that your audit was conducted in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland), which involves an examination of the accounting system, internal control and related data to the extent you
considered necessary in the circumstances, and is not designed to identify - nor necessarily be expected to disclose - all fraud, shortages, errors and other
irregularities, should any exist.

Accordingly, we make the following representations, which are true to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such inquiries as we considered necessary
for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves:

A. Financial Statements and Financial Records
1. We have fulfilled our responsibilities, under the relevant statutory authorities, for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the Accounts

and Audit Regulations 2015 and CIPFA LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18.
2. We acknowledge, as members of management of the Council, our responsibility for the fair presentation of the financial statements. We believe the financial

statements referred to above give a true and fair view of the financial position, financial performance (or results of operations) and cash flows of the Council in
accordance with the CIPFA LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18.  We have approved the financial
statements.

3. The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are appropriately described in the financial statements.
4. As members of management of the Council, we believe that the Council has a system of internal controls adequate to enable the preparation of accurate financial

statements in accordance with the CIPFA LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18, that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

5. We believe that the effects of any unadjusted audit differences, summarised in the Audit Results Report, accumulated by you during the current audit and

Draft management Representation Letter

P
age 101



50

Appendix D

Draft management representation letter

pertaining to the latest period presented are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a whole. We have not
corrected these differences identified by and brought to the attention from the auditor because [specify reasons for not correcting misstatement].

B. Non-compliance with law and regulations, including fraud
1. We acknowledge that we are responsible to determine that the Council’s activities are conducted in accordance with laws and regulations and that we are

responsible to identify and address any non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations, including fraud.
2. We acknowledge that we are responsible for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal controls to prevent and detect fraud.
3. We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.
4. We have disclosed to you, and provided you full access to information and any internal investigations relating to, all instances of identified or suspected non-

compliance with law and regulations, including fraud, known to us that may have affected the Council (regardless of the source or form and including, without
limitation, allegations by “whistleblowers”) including non-compliance matters:
§ involving financial statements;
§ related to laws and regulations that have a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the Council’s financial statements;
§ related to laws and regulations that have an indirect effect on amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, but compliance with which may be

fundamental to the operations of the Council’s activities, its ability to continue to operate, or to avoid material penalties;
§ involving management, or employees who have significant roles in internal controls, or others; or
§ in relation to any allegations of fraud, suspected fraud or other non-compliance with laws and regulations communicated by employees, former

employees, analysts, regulators or others.

C. Information Provided and Completeness of Information and Transactions
1. We have provided you with:

§ access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the financial statements such as records, documentation and other
matters;

§ additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit; and
§ unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom you determined it necessary to obtain audit evidence.

2. All material transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial statements.
3. We have made available to you all minutes of the meetings of the Council, Cabinet and Governance Committee (or summaries of actions of recent meetings for

which minutes have not yet been prepared) held through to the most recent meeting.
4. We confirm the completeness of information provided regarding the identification of related parties. We have disclosed to you the identity of the Council’s

related parties and all related party relationships and transactions of which we are aware, including sales, purchases, loans, transfers of assets, liabilities and
services, leasing arrangements, guarantees, non-monetary transactions and transactions for no consideration for the period ended, as well as related balances
due to or from such parties at the period end.  These transactions have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in the financial statements

5. We believe that the significant assumptions we used in making accounting estimates, including those measured at fair value, are reasonable.
6. We have disclosed to you, and the Council has complied with, all aspects of contractual agreements that could have a material effect on the financial statements

in the event of non-compliance, including all covenants, conditions or other requirements of all outstanding debt.

Draft management Representation Letter

P
age 102



51

Appendix D

Draft management representation letter

D. Liabilities and Contingencies
1. All liabilities and contingencies, including those associated with guarantees, whether written or oral, have been disclosed to you and are appropriately reflected

in the financial statements.
2. We have informed you of all outstanding and possible litigation and claims, whether or not they have been discussed with legal counsel.
3. We have recorded and/or disclosed, as appropriate, all liabilities related litigation and claims, both actual and contingent, and have disclosed in Notes 21 and 35

to the financial statements all guarantees that we have given to third parties.

E. Subsequent Events
1. Other than the matters described in Note 7 to the financial statements, there have been no events subsequent to period end which require adjustment of or

disclosure in the financial statements or notes thereto.

F. Other information
1. We acknowledge our responsibility for the preparation of the other information. The other information comprises: the preface, the Narrative Statement, the

Statement of Responsibilities, the Glossary and the Annual Governance Statement.
2. We confirm that the content contained within the other information is consistent with the financial statements.

H. Prior period adjustments
1. Comparative amounts have been restated in Note 31.a), being the future minimum lease payments under operating leases. They have been restated following a

review of the accounts preparation process.
2. The comparative amounts have been correctly restated to reflect the above matter and an appropriate note disclosing this restatement has also been included in

the current year's financial statements.
3. There have been no significant errors or misstatements, or changes in accounting policies, other than the matters described above, that would require a

restatement of the comparative amounts in the current year’s financial statements.

I. Use of the Work of a Specialist
1. We agree with the findings of the specialists that we engaged to evaluate the valuation of:

§ property, plant and equipment;
§ investment properties; and
§ the defined benefit pension liability.

We have adequately considered the qualifications of the specialists in determining the amounts and disclosures included in the financial statements and the
underlying accounting records. We did not give or cause any instructions to be given to the specialists with respect to the values or amounts derived in an attempt to
bias their work, and we are not otherwise aware of any matters that have had an effect on the independence or objectivity of the specialists.

Draft management Representation Letter

P
age 103



52

Appendix D

Draft management representation letter

J. Estimates
Valuation of property, plant and equipment, investment properties and PFI (and similar arrangements)
1. We believe that the measurement processes, including related assumptions and models, used to determine the accounting estimates have been consistently

applied and are appropriate in the context of the CIPFA LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18.
2. We confirm that the disclosures made in the financial statements with respect to the accounting estimates are complete and made in accordance with the CIPFA

LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18.
3. We confirm that no adjustments are required to the accounting estimate(s) and disclosures in the financial statements due to subsequent events.

K. Retirement benefits
1. On the basis of the process established by us and having made appropriate enquiries, we are satisfied that the actuarial assumptions underlying the scheme

liabilities are consistent with our knowledge of the business. All significant retirement benefits and all settlements and curtailments have been identified and
properly accounted for.

Yours faithfully,

_______________________
(Service Director of Finance and Commercialisation)

_______________________
(Chairman of the Governance Committee)

Draft management Representation Letter

P
age 104



EY  |  Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory

About EY
EY is a global leader in assurance, tax, transaction and advisory
services. The insights and quality services we deliver help build
trust and confidence in the capital markets and in economies the
world over. We develop outstanding leaders who team to deliver
on our promises to all of our stakeholders. In so doing, we play a
critical role in building a better working world for our people, for
our clients and for our communities.
EY refers to the global organization, and may refer to one or
more, of the member firms of Ernst & Young Global Limited, each
of which is a separate legal entity. Ernst & Young Global Limited, a
UK company limited by guarantee, does not provide services to
clients. For more information about our organization, please visit
ey.com.

© 2017 EYGM Limited.
All Rights Reserved.

ED None

This material has been prepared for general informational purposes only and is not
intended to be relied upon as accounting, tax, or other professional advice. Please refer
to your advisors for specific advice.

ey.com

P
age 105



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Letter of representations: Audit of Council only financial
statements	

Form 410GL (21 February 2018) 1

[To be prepared on the entity’s letterhead]

[Date]

Ernst & Young LLP
Wessex House,
19 Threefield Lane,
Southampton,
SO14 3QB

This letter of representations is provided in connection with your audit of the financial
statements of Southampton City Council (“the Council”) for the year ended 31st

March 2018.  We recognise that obtaining representations from us concerning the
information contained in this letter is a significant procedure in enabling you to form
an opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of Southampton City Council as of 31st March 2018 and of its
income and expenditure for the year then ended in accordance with CIPFA LASAAC
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18.

We understand that the purpose of your audit of our financial statements is to
express an opinion thereon and that your audit was conducted in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland), which involves an examination
of the accounting system, internal control and related data to the extent you
considered necessary in the circumstances, and is not designed to identify - nor
necessarily be expected to disclose - all fraud, shortages, errors and other
irregularities, should any exist.

Accordingly, we make the following representations, which are true to the best of our
knowledge and belief, having made such inquiries as we considered necessary for
the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves:

A. Financial Statements and Financial Records

1. We have fulfilled our responsibilities, under the relevant statutory authorities, for
the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the Accounts and
Audit Regulations 2015 and CIPFA LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18.

2. We acknowledge, as members of management of the Council, our responsibility
for the fair presentation of the financial statements.  We believe the financial
statements referred to above give a true and fair view of the financial position,
financial performance (or results of operations) and cash flows of the Council in
accordance with the CIPFA LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18.  We have approved the financial
statements.

3. The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial
statements are appropriately described in the financial statements.

4. As members of management of the Council, we believe that the Council has a
system of internal controls adequate to enable the preparation of accurate

Page 107

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 2



Letter of representations: Audit of Council only financial
statements	

2

financial statements in accordance with the CIPFA LASAAC Code of Practice on
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18, that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

5. We believe that the effects of the two unadjusted audit differences, summarised
in the Audit Results Report, accumulated by you during the current audit and
pertaining to the latest period presented are immaterial, both individually and in
the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a whole. We have not
corrected these differences identified by and brought to the attention from the
auditor because:

· They are below the materiality level;

· There is no overall material variance and no net impact on the General
Fund or HRA reported position;

· In discussion with you, you have confirmed that these are not material
items that need amending;

· Neither uncorrected amounts would have a material impact on the use
and interpretation by users of the financial statements;

· Where necessary the amendments will be made in the 2018/19 financial
statements;

PFI

· PFI’s are closed with elements based on estimates;

· They are below the materiality level;

· Schools PFI - whilst agreeing that some of the costs should not have
been capitalised, we are of the view that the impact on the 2017/18
accounts and those for future years is not material and therefore will not
adjust the accounts; we propose to split out the contingent rent from
costs of services in future years’ accounts, but not make any
adjustments to the 2017/18 accounts;

· Street Lighting PFI – in relation to recalculating finance interest costs,
the cost for 2017/18 would reduce by less than £0.1M.We are of the view
that the impact of this change on the 2017/18 accounts and those for
future years is not material and therefore will not adjust the accounts;

Pensions

· Given the nature of the pension fund, and the possible fluctuations in
value over such a large pension fund, along with our percentage being
fairly small, this would not be a material difference;

· We pay for an early annual valuation from the actuary in order to meet
the required closedown timetable and therefore would expect to use that

Page 108



Letter of representations: Audit of Council only financial
statements	

3

figure, accepting that it is an estimate at a particular point in time. We are
consistent with this approach; and

· The percentage variance identified is 0.5% which is below the 1.1% that
the actuary has reported as the difference on the pension fund as a
whole and would consider acceptable.

B. Non-compliance with law and regulations, including fraud

1. We acknowledge that we are responsible to determine that the Council’s activities
are conducted in accordance with laws and regulations and that we are
responsible to identify and address any non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations, including fraud.

2. We acknowledge that we are responsible for the design, implementation and
maintenance of internal controls to prevent and detect fraud.

3. We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the
financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.

4. We have disclosed to you, and provided you full access to information and any
internal investigations relating to, all instances of identified or suspected non-
compliance with law and regulations, including fraud, known to us that may have
affected the Council (regardless of the source or form and including, without
limitation, allegations by “whistleblowers”) including non-compliance matters:

· involving financial statements;

· related to laws and regulations that have a direct effect on the determination
of material amounts and disclosures in the Council’s financial statements;

· related to laws and regulations that have an indirect effect on amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, but compliance with which may be
fundamental to the operations of the Council’s activities, its ability to
continue to operate, or to avoid material penalties;

· involving management, or employees who have significant roles in internal
controls, or others; or

· in relation to any allegations of fraud, suspected fraud or other non-
compliance with laws and regulations communicated by employees, former
employees, analysts, regulators or others.

C. Information Provided and Completeness of Information and Transactions

1. We have provided you with:

· access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the
preparation of the financial statements such as records, documentation and
other matters;

Page 109



Letter of representations: Audit of Council only financial
statements	

4

· additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the
audit; and

· unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom you determined it
necessary to obtain audit evidence.

2. All material transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are
reflected in the financial statements.

3. We have made available to you all minutes of the meetings of the Council,
Cabinet and Governance Committee (or summaries of actions of recent
meetings for which minutes have not yet been prepared) held through to the
most recent meeting.

4. We confirm the completeness of information provided regarding the identification
of related parties. We have disclosed to you the identity of the Council’s related
parties and all related party relationships and transactions of which we are
aware, including sales, purchases, loans, transfers of assets, liabilities and
services, leasing arrangements, guarantees, non-monetary transactions and
transactions for no consideration for the period ended, as well as related
balances due to or from such parties at the period end.  These transactions have
been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in the financial statements

5. We believe that the significant assumptions we used in making accounting
estimates, including those measured at fair value, are reasonable.

6. We have disclosed to you, and the Council has complied with, all aspects of
contractual agreements that could have a material effect on the financial
statements in the event of non-compliance, including all covenants, conditions or
other requirements of all outstanding debt.

D. Liabilities and Contingencies

1. All liabilities and contingencies, including those associated with guarantees,
whether written or oral, have been disclosed to you and are appropriately
reflected in the financial statements.

2. We have informed you of all outstanding and possible litigation and claims,
whether or not they have been discussed with legal counsel.

3. We have recorded and/or disclosed, as appropriate, all liabilities related litigation
and claims, both actual and contingent, and have disclosed in Notes 21 and 35
to the financial statements all guarantees that we have given to third parties.

E. Subsequent Events

1. Other than the matters described in Note 7 to the financial statements, there
have been no events subsequent to period end which require adjustment of or
disclosure in the financial statements or notes thereto.

F. Other information

Page 110



Letter of representations: Audit of Council only financial
statements	

5

1. We acknowledge our responsibility for the preparation of the other information.
The other information comprises: the preface, the Narrative Statement, the
Statement of Responsibilities, the Glossary and the Annual Governance
Statement.

2.  We confirm that the content contained within the other information is consistent
with the financial statements.

H. Prior period adjustments

1. Comparative amounts have been restated in Note 31.a), being the future
minimum lease payments under operating leases. They have been restated
following a review of the accounts preparation process.

2. The comparative amounts have been correctly restated to reflect the above
matter and an appropriate note disclosing this restatement has also been
included in the current year's financial statements.

3. There have been no significant errors or misstatements, or changes in accounting
policies, other than the matters described above, that would require a
restatement of the comparative amounts in the current year’s financial
statements.

I. Use of the Work of a Specialist

1. We agree with the findings of the specialists that we engaged to evaluate the
valuation of:

· property, plant and equipment;

· investment properties; and

· the defined benefit pension liability.

We have adequately considered the qualifications of the specialists in
determining the amounts and disclosures included in the financial statements
and the underlying accounting records. We did not give or cause any instructions
to be given to the specialists with respect to the values or amounts derived in an
attempt to bias their work, and we are not otherwise aware of any matters that
have had an effect on the independence or objectivity of the specialists.

Page 111



Letter of representations: Audit of Council only financial
statements	

6

J. Estimates

Valuation of property, plant and equipment, investment properties and PFI (and
similar arrangements)

1. We believe that the measurement processes, including related assumptions and
models, used to determine the accounting estimates have been consistently
applied and are appropriate in the context of the CIPFA LASAAC Code of
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18.

2. We confirm that the disclosures made in the financial statements with respect to
the accounting estimates are complete and made in accordance with the CIPFA
LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom
2017/18.

3. We confirm that no adjustments are required to the accounting estimate(s) and
disclosures in the financial statements due to subsequent events.

K. Retirement benefits

1. On the basis of the process established by us and having made appropriate
enquiries, we are satisfied that the actuarial assumptions underlying the scheme
liabilities are consistent with our knowledge of the business. All significant
retirement benefits and all settlements and curtailments have been identified and
properly accounted for.

Yours faithfully,

_______________________
(Service Director of Finance and Commercialisation)

_______________________
(Chairman of the Governance Committee)

Page 112



DECISION-MAKER: GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
SUBJECT: ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT OPINION 2017-18
DATE OF DECISION: 30TH JULY 2018
REPORT OF: CHIEF INTERNAL AUDITOR

CONTACT DETAILS
AUTHOR: Name: Elizabeth Goodwin Tel: 023 8083 4616

E-mail: Elizabeth.Goodwin@southampton.gov.uk
Director Name: Mel Creighton Tel: 023 8083 4897

E-mail: Mel.Creighton@southampton.gov.uk

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
N/A
BRIEF SUMMARY
On an annual basis and in accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 
the Chief Internal Auditor is required to provide an opinion on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Council's framework of risk management, internal control and 
governance. 

The annual opinion for 2017-18 is that 'limited assurance' can be provided. Four audit 
opinion levels are in place and these are: no assurance, limited assurance, 
reasonable assurance and full assurance. Where there are mainly medium or low risk 
exceptions the annual audit opinion would be reasonable or full assurance.

During the course of the year 78 high risk exceptions were raised along with 34 medium 
and 19 low. The details of all work carried out can be found in Appendix A. 

In addition to the opinion an update is provided on the work carried out since the last 
reporting period.
RECOMMENDATIONS:

(i) That the Governance Committee notes the Chief Internal Auditor's 
Annual Audit Opinion for 2017-18.

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS
1. In accordance with proper internal audit practices (Public Sector Internal Audit 

Standards) and the Internal Audit Charter, the Governance Committee is 
required to receive the Chief Internal Auditor’s Annual Report & Opinion for 
2017-18

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED
2. None
DETAIL (Including consultation carried out)
3. The opinion has been shared with the s151 Officer only in order to maintain 

internal audit independence.

Page 113

Agenda Item 9



RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
Capital/Revenue 
4. None
Property/Other
5. None
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report: 
6. The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 state 'a relevant body 

must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its 
risk management, control and governance processes, taking into account the 
Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards.

Other Legal Implications: 
7. None
RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS
8. Failure to maintain an effective internal audit functions would result in a failure 

of the organisation meeting its statutory responsibilities in relation to the 
Annual Governance Statement and Annual Audit Opinion.  

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS
9. None
KEY DECISION? No
WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: None

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION
Appendices 
1. Annual Internal Audit Opinion for 2017-18
Documents In Members’ Rooms
1. None
Equality Impact Assessment 
Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality and
Safety Impact Assessment (ESIA) to be carried out.

No

Data Protection Impact Assessment
Do the implications/subject of the report require a Data Protection 
Impact Assessment (DPIA) to be carried out. 

No

Other Background Documents
Other Background documents available for inspection at: Internal Audit Office, 
Civic Centre, Municipal, 1st floor, Rm 219.
Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 

Information Procedure Rules / 
Schedule 12A allowing document to 
be Exempt/Confidential (if applicable)

Page 114



1. Results of work carried out to date.

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



Assure

Alert

Advise
Southampton City Council - 
Annual Audit Report 
2017/18
Elizabeth Goodwin 

Chief Internal Auditor

P
age 117

A
genda Item

 9
A

ppendix 1



Southampton City Council Internal Audit Service is performed in compliance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (PSIAS). Compliance to the standard was externally assessed in May 2018. P a g e  | 2

Assure

Alert

Advise

Contents

Pages 3 - 4 Background

Page 5 Annual Opinion

Page 6 Key areas of concern

Pages 7 - 8 Results of work performed against plan

Pages 9 - 10 Exception Analysis

Pages 11 - 13 Additional Information

Page 14 Unplanned reactive work

Pages 15 - 18 Public Sector Internal Audit Standards

Page 19 Progress Report 30th May - 18th July 2018

P
age 118



Southampton City Council Internal Audit Service is performed in compliance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (PSIAS). Compliance to the standard was externally assessed in May 2018. P a g e  | 3

Assure

Alert

Advise

Background

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards

On 1st April 2013 the 'Public Sector Internal Audit Standards' (PSIAS) were formally adopted in respect of Local Government across the UK. The 
PSIAS apply to all internal service providers, whether in-house, shared services or outsourced. The Standards were revised from 1 April 2016 to 
incorporate the mission of Internal Audit and Core Principles for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing.

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 Section 5, define the requirement for an internal audit function within Local Government stating 
that: 

'A relevant authority must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control and 
governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing standards or guidance'

The responsibility for maintaining an adequate and effective system of internal audit within Southampton City Council lies with the Service 
Director for Finance & Commercialisation (S151 Officer). 

The Chief Internal Auditor is responsible for effectively managing the internal audit activity in accordance with the ‘Definition of Internal 
Auditing’, the ‘Code of Ethics’ and ‘the Standards’. 

In accordance with the PSIAS the definition of internal auditing is; 

'Internal auditing is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve an organisation’s 
operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve 
the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes'.

P
age 119



Southampton City Council Internal Audit Service is performed in compliance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (PSIAS). Compliance to the standard was externally assessed in May 2018. P a g e  | 4

Assure

Alert

Advise

In addition the Chief Internal Auditor will provide an Annual Internal Audit Opinion based on an objective assessment of the 
Authority's framework of governance, risk management and control. 

The Annual Internal Audit Opinion must incorporate;

 The Opinion;
 A summary of the work that supports the Opinion; and 
 A statement on conformance with PSIAS and the results of the quality assurance and improvement programme. 

Statement of Organisational Independence

The Internal Audit Section has no operational responsibilities for any financial systems, including system development and installation. It does 
however provide advice on control implementation and risk mitigation where relevant and throughout the design and implementation stages 
of new systems.

The Chief Internal Auditor is free from interference, although has due regard for the Authority's key objectives and risks and consults with 
members and officers charged with governance, when setting the priorities of the annual audit plan, for example; in determining the scope 
and objectives of work to be carried out and in performing the work and communicating the results of each audit assignment. There must be 
and is no compromise on the ability of Internal Audit to provide an independent assurance on the control framework.

The Internal Audit Section has free and unfettered access to the s151 Officer, Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer the Leader of the Council and 
the Chair of the Governance Committee. 

P
age 120



Southampton City Council Internal Audit Service is performed in compliance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (PSIAS). Compliance to the standard was externally assessed in May 2018. P a g e  | 5

Assure

Alert

Advise

Annual Opinion - Limited Assurance

With effect from the 1st April 2017 and in partnership with Portsmouth City Council an in house team to provide audit service has been 
established. An Audit Manager was appointed from August 2017 with two auditors joining the team in September 2017. Whilst recruitment 
took place Portsmouth City Council provided support resources to undertake a variety of reviews. This will continue into 2018-19 and 
potentially beyond, until Southampton City Council has a full complement of staff and skills mix in order to deliver the annual audit plan. The 
role of Chief Internal Auditor is provided under a shared arrangement with Portsmouth City Council which sits outside of this arrangement. 

Over the course of the year the audit service completed 45 full audits, the results of which show a change from the previous year, end of year 
findings. 49% of audit performed during 2017-18 have a risk rating of 'limited' assurance compared with 21% from the 2016-17 results. The 
change in service, specifically the onsite audit team presence, use of data analytics and depth & breadth of the independent testing is 
considered to be the main factor in this, not that the Authority has had a dramatic decline in its ability to maintain an effective internal control 
environment. 

Four audit opinion levels are in place and these are: no assurance, limited assurance, reasonable assurance and full assurance. 
Where there are mainly medium or low risk exceptions the annual audit opinion would be reasonable or full assurance. As a result of the 
findings identified the audit opinion for 2017/18 is that limited assurance can be provided that the framework of governance, risk 
management and control at Southampton City Council is effective. 

No Assurance Limited Assurance Reasonable Assurance Full Assurance

In forming this opinion two areas of concern should be noted; the first is the high level of non-compliance to policies across the Council and 
the second relates to the number of fragmented systems that span more than one directorate and result in gaps in expected controls to 
mitigate risk exposures. The specific details are expanded further under 'key areas of concern'. Internal Audit will work with the Chief 
Executive, Service Directors and Service Leads to improve on specific areas of control, risk management and governance weaknesses.

Any significant corporate weaknesses and agreed actions will be reflected in the Annual Governance Statement. The impact of the Internal 
Audit work for 2017/18 may affect that year's work for External Audit. It may also inform their work for 2018/19 and where they consider 
there are weaknesses in control that could materially affect the accounts they may need to carry out further work to gain the necessary audit 
assurance required for a true and fair view of the financial position and compliance with professional codes of practice. 

P
age 121



Southampton City Council Internal Audit Service is performed in compliance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (PSIAS). Compliance to the standard was externally assessed in May 2018. P a g e  | 6

Assure

Alert

Advise

Key areas of concern

The key areas of concern as noted in the annual opinion predominately focus around the lack of compliance across the authority to internal 
policies, and statutory requirements. This was identified in a number of audit reviews throughout the year, some of which are noted below as 
examples;

 Travel & Subsistence, non-compliance with internal policy was identified relating to evidence to support expenditure incurred, this 
issue was also identified in Purchase Cards.

 Tower Blocks, non-compliance with internal procedures relating to the inspection program
 Deprivation of Liberty, non-compliance with statutory timescales

In addition to this Southampton City Council operate where a number of activities are delivered by more than service. i.e within more than one  
directorate. The impact noted is that specialist skills are not always being utilised and the quality of working practices varies along with risk 
exposure. These issues were noted in, but are not limited to the following audits; 

 Water Quality
 Asbestos

Two reviews, British Gas and the Arts Complex (Studio 144) raised historic concerns over the lack of corporate oversight and weak governance, 
further work will be undertaken during 2018-19 to ascertain whether arrangement currently in place are sufficiently robust to ensure that risk 
exposure is adequately mitigated moving forward. 

All findings have been reported to the Governance Committee and separately to senior management, namely the Interim Chief Executive and 
relevant Service Directors. Discussions have also been held with External Audit.   

P
age 122



Southampton City Council Internal Audit Service is performed in compliance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (PSIAS). Compliance to the standard was externally assessed in May 2018. P a g e  | 7

Assure

Alert

Advise

Results of the work carried out against plan for 2017-18

10
11

22

2
3

6

1

3

Assurance Reasonable 
Assurance

Limited 
Assurance

No Assurance Consultancy Draft No Submission 
Received

Deferred
0

5

10

15

20

25

Assurance
Reasonable Assurance
Limited Assurance
No Assurance
Consultancy
Draft
No Submission Received
Deferred

Full Audit Assurance Levels 2017/18

P
age 123



Southampton City Council Internal Audit Service is performed in compliance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (PSIAS). Compliance to the standard was externally assessed in May 2018. P a g e  | 8

Assure

Alert

Advise

C&F COR DBO F&C GRTH HAC HR ICU L&G P&H T&U TRAN
0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

Assurance
Reasonable Assurance
Limited Assurance
No Assurance
Draft
Consultancy
No Submission Received
Deferred

Audit Assurance Levels accross Services

P
age 124



Southampton City Council Internal Audit Service is performed in compliance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (PSIAS). Compliance to the standard was externally assessed in May 2018. P a g e  | 9

Assure

Alert

Advise

Exception Analysis

78

34

19

High Risk Medium Risk Low Risk - 
Improvement

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

High Risk
Medium Risk
Low Risk - Improvement

Total Exceptions raised by Risk Level

P
age 125



Southampton City Council Internal Audit Service is performed in compliance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (PSIAS). Compliance to the standard was externally assessed in May 2018. P a g e  | 10

Assure

Alert

Advise

High Risk Medium Risk Low Risk - 
Improvement

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

Achievement of organisation's 
strategic objectives
Compliance
Effectiveness of Operations
Reliability & Integrity
Safeguarding of Assets

2017/18 Exceptions by risk and type

Risk

Achievement of 
organisation's 
strategic objectives Compliance

Effectiveness 
of Operations

Reliability 
& 
Integrity

Safeguarding 
of Assets

Grand 
Total

High Risk 6 32 29 1 10 78

Medium Risk 4 15 7 2 6 34

Low Risk - Improvement  7 7 1 4 19

Grand Total 10 54 43 4 20 131

P
age 126



Southampton City Council Internal Audit Service is performed in compliance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (PSIAS). Compliance to the standard was externally assessed in May 2018. P a g e  | 11

Assure

Alert

Advise

Additional Information

Three of the audits included in the 2017-18 audit plan resulted in consultative work being undertaken in place of an audit review, these areas 
are noted below for information. 

Direct Payments: Following receipt of a 'No assurance' audit and service known concerns, Southampton City Council instigated a complete 
review of the DP process; this has included engagement with service users and support services under an intensive care assessment. Whilst 
progress has been made the new system is yet to be implemented with further work to be undertaken. An audit was scheduled to be 
undertaken in Q3/4 as the new system was anticipated to be in place by November, however due to the aforementioned delay no audit review 
has been carried out. An Audit of new system for Direct Payments will therefore be carried out during 2018/19 as part of the annual plan of 
audit activities. 

Local Authority Trading Company: Internal Audit was invited to a number of forums and has held discussions with key individuals regarding 
the development of LATC. As there are no areas currently to review, it has been agreed that Internal Audit will, as part of the 2018/19 annual 
plan, carry out system reviews on all activities due to be transferred and prior to them moving across in order to provide assurances that the 
processes in operation are working efficiently. 

Short Breaks: A review of the short breaks process was due to be conducted as part of the 2017/18 audit plan. Short Breaks provide children 
and young people with disabilities or additional needs an opportunity to spend time away from their parents, engage in fun activities and 
enjoy time with their friends. However discussion with the SEND Manager identified that processes were due to be changing. 

"The current approach does not provide effective support based on need, has eligibility criteria that are unfair and inequitable and does not 
meet the legal requirements of delivering social care assessments and access to services based on need. The proposals are to introduce new 
eligibility criteria based on 4 levels, applying a needs based approach, introduce a new Short Breaks offer linked to the 4 levels and procure 
services for a 5 year period so that services can be delivered over the medium term with a degree of security."

P
age 127



Southampton City Council Internal Audit Service is performed in compliance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (PSIAS). Compliance to the standard was externally assessed in May 2018. P a g e  | 12

Assure

Alert

Advise

Based on the above information, Internal Audit was consulted on the proposed process moving forward and it was agreed a full 
audit will then be completed in 2018/19 plan.

In addition to the areas noted above, Internal Audit included in the 2017/18 Audit Plan the verification of the 'Local Transport Capital Block 
Funding Grant', as at the date of this report no submission has been presented for verification.    

Deferred Audits

Three audits from the 2017-18 audit plan have been deferred to the 2018-19 audit plan, these are as follows:

Partnerships: This audit has been deferred due to resourcing issues within the team and the unplanned absence by the member of staff 
undertaking this work. 

IT Telecommunications & Mobile Devices: These two audits were combined and in fieldwork awaiting documents and supporting evidence, 
unfortunately the service was not in a position to provide the data required within the timeframe for an audit assessment and end of year 
reporting. In discussions with the Service Director and Chief Internal Auditor it has been agreed that the audit will therefore be performed 
during 2018-19. 

Audits Outstanding - In Draft

There are six audits with overall opinions yet to be determined, although likely to span limited or no assurance pending final evidence 
submission, that are currently in draft. These audits are taking longer than anticipated to close, however it is important that all audit findings 
reported are accurate and reflect the position of the authority, as at time of testing. They will remain in draft pending completion and will be 
reported at the September 2018 meeting. 

 Procurement & Contract Framework (two audits merged into one)
 Leisure Contract
 Accounts Payable

P
age 128



Southampton City Council Internal Audit Service is performed in compliance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (PSIAS). Compliance to the standard was externally assessed in May 2018. P a g e  | 13

Assure

Alert

Advise

 Health & Safety
 Children's Safeguarding 

The results of these audits are not likely to change the annual opinion.

P
age 129



Southampton City Council Internal Audit Service is performed in compliance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (PSIAS). Compliance to the standard was externally assessed in May 2018. P a g e  | 14

Assure

Alert

Advise

Unplanned reactive work

For the period 1st April 2017 to 31st March 2018, Internal Audit has provided advice in the following area. (For reference, Advice is only 
recorded when the time taken to provide the advice exceeds 1 hour).

 SeaCity Museum - Following the fire and subsequent theft that occurred, Internal Audit were contacted to review the processes in 
place relating to cash security and evacuation. Upon review of the processes for storing and securing cash, Internal Audit did not 
highlight any issues which required addressing. Cash is secured during the day and access to the till system is restricted. Evacuation 
processes were followed and the theft occurred based on the actions of the perpetrator, not the failure of processes.

 Direct Payments - The Audit Manager has been attending regular workshops regarding the changes proposed in the Direct Payments 
process. The purpose was to provide advice on risks and controls on changes to the current process.

 Pest Control - A review of the processes for this service was undertaken where the Internal Audit service acted in a consultative 
capacity. A full audit has subsequently been factored into the 2018-19 audit plan. 

 Housing Operations - Advice was sought in relation to the control surrounding obsolete stock.  
 Travis Perkins – Audit was contacted directly by Travis Perkins to investigate the use of their Purchas Cards by SCC tradespersons.  The 

use of these cards needs to be compliant with SCC Procurement rules and also in line with the current contract that the Council has in 
place with Travis Perkins for the provision of materials.  Advice has been given to the relevant Service Manager in Housing and also 
discussions held with the Service Lead – Supplier Management.

P
age 130



Southampton City Council Internal Audit Service is performed in compliance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (PSIAS). Compliance to the standard was externally assessed in May 2018. P a g e  | 15

Assure

Alert

Advise

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards

Background

Under the Public Sector Internal Audit Standard (PSIAS) 1310 requires that, as part of the quality assurance and improvement programme 
internal and external assessments (of conformance with the Standards) must be undertaken. Standard 1311 allows for periodic self-
assessments, which for Southampton City Council has been carried out for the first time under the arrangement for the provision of the 
service. The results of the 2017-18 self-assessments show that the in-house service is compliant. 

Standard 1312 requires that an external assessment must be conducted at least once every five years by a qualified, independent assessor or 
assessment team from outside the organisation. The Standards state that a qualified assessor demonstrates competence in two areas; the 
professional practice of internal auditing and the external assessment process. Competence can be demonstrated through a mixture of 
experience and theoretical learning. An independent assessor means not having an actual or perceived conflict of interest and not being part 
of, or under the control of, the organisation to which the internal audit activity belongs. As the Southampton City Council's audit provision is 
provided by a mixture of in-house supported by Portsmouth City Council (PCC) the results of PCC's 2017-18 external assessment are shared 
below.  

Introduction

The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, updated April 2017, state that "A professional, independent and objective internal audit service is 
one of the key elements of good governance, as recognised throughout the UK public sector." 

The Relevant Internal Audit Standard Setters (RIASS) (as recognised by the Account and Audit Regulations) for local government across the UK, 
is the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (Cipfa). 

These common set of Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) encompass the mandatory elements of the Institute of Internal Auditors 
(IIA) International Professional Practices Framework (IPPF). 

P
age 131



Southampton City Council Internal Audit Service is performed in compliance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (PSIAS). Compliance to the standard was externally assessed in May 2018. P a g e  | 16

Assure

Alert

Advise

The Standards include a Code of Ethics covering:

 Integrity
 Objectivity
 Confidentiality
 Competency

The Standards cover 11 key areas:

 1000 Purpose, Authority & Responsibility
 1100 Independence & Objectivity
 1200 Proficiency & Due Professional Care
 1300 Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme
 2000 Performance Standards- Managing the Internal Audit Activity
 2100 Performance Standards- Nature of Work
 2200 Performance Standards- Engagement Planning
 2300 Performance Standards- Performing the Engagement
 2400 Performance Standards- Communicating Results
 2500 Performance Standards- Monitoring Progress
 2600 Performance Standards- Communicating the Acceptance of Risks

Scope

The scope of the review performed at Portsmouth was agreed with the Monitoring Officer, Director of HR, Legal and Performance, s151 Officer 
and the previous chair of the Governance & Audit & Standards Committee (GAS) and was as follows:

 Evidence that the Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Service at Portsmouth City Council (PCC) complies with current Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards, including the Code of Ethics; by evaluating:
- Relevant documentation

P
age 132



Southampton City Council Internal Audit Service is performed in compliance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (PSIAS). Compliance to the standard was externally assessed in May 2018. P a g e  | 17

Assure

Alert

Advise

- Discussions with the Chair of the Governance & Audit & Standards Committee, Senior Management (including 
the CX, s151 and Monitoring Officers and Director of HR & Performance), external audit and members of the Internal Audit Staff

Findings

It was found that the service complies with all the Standards and Code of Ethics with the following three exceptions:

(a) Standard 1100 requires that the Chief Internal Auditor (CIA) confirms annually to the board (GAS) the organisational independence of 
the internal audit activity. Although the Charter and Strategy affirm the definition of Internal Audit, reports to the GAS do not 
specifically refer to audit independence as an on-going assurance and this could be included as part of the Annual Audit Opinion. 

(b) Standard 1110 (public sector requirements) states that the Chief Executive undertakes, countersigns, contributes feedback or reviews 
the performance appraisal of the CIA and that feedback is also sought from the Chair of the G&A&S. currently there is no input from 
these sources. An annual PDR (Performance Development Review) is undertaken by the Director of HR, Legal and Performance as the 
Chief Internal Auditor's line manager.  The Director of Finance and s151 Officer as the main client of the Service and the Deputy Chief 
Executive and Monitoring Officer as another key client, will be asked for feedback as part of the PDR process. 

(c) Standard 1320 requires that the CIA must report the results of the quality assurance and improvement programme to senior 
management including conclusions and any corrective action and include in the annual report to the board (GAS). Whilst there is 
evidence of day to day supervision and measurement of activity achieved to planned, there is no formalised assurance programme to 
demonstrate on going improvement which could include a stated aim of a quality assurance programme to demonstrate the efficiency 
and effectiveness of the IA activity. This could be included as part of the Audit Strategy or Charter reports to G&A&S.

Discussions with the Deputy Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer, the Chief Executive as Head of Paid Service, the Chair of the Governance 
and Audit and Standards Committee, the Director of HR and Performance and the External Auditor for PCC (Ernst & Young) demonstrated that 
the IA Service is highly regarded as professional, is trusted to inform and alert senior management and the GAS to significant matters, in a 
timely fashion and delivers on its purpose. 

There were a number of areas of good practice identified namely: 

Audit Management

P
age 133



Southampton City Council Internal Audit Service is performed in compliance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (PSIAS). Compliance to the standard was externally assessed in May 2018. P a g e  | 18

Assure

Alert

Advise

 The Audit skills gap analysis, 
 Management of individual performance, 
 The audit universe risk assessment, 
 Team Mate electronic files and processes

Contribution to good governance

 The use of a Corporate Governance Group, consisting of The CX, Deputy CX, Directorate of Finance, Director of HR, Legal & 
Performance and the CIA which meets regularly to discuss matters of governance, 

 The monthly meetings the CIA has with the s151 Officer,
 Ad-hoc meetings between the CIA and Chair of the Governance and Audit and Standards Committee,
 The Investigation Steering Panel consisting of the deputy CX as monitoring Officer, the Director of Finance as s151 Officer and the 

Director of HR, Legal & Performance, the Deputy CIA and the Internal Audit Counter Fraud Officer which determines the 
investigation of any suspected fraud in accordance with the Counter Fraud Policy and Response Plan,

 Assurance Mapping- whilst this is still in its infancy it is a good start and will hopefully enable a wider Annual Audit Opinion to be 
given using the whole of the organisation's assurance framework.

Conclusion

It is considered that whilst it is important to action the three areas of non-compliance, it has not had a significant impact on the overall ability 
of the Internal Audit and Counter Fraud Service at PCC to deliver the Service as specified by their Charter and Code of Ethics. They can 
demonstrate that they deliver a professional, independent and objective activity that contributes to the good governance of the organisation 
and are able to deliver an annual audit opinion in accordance with the Standards.

Resources in delivering the contracted services have reached capacity at a management level. The organisation may wish to review the current 
provision as a whole and the hierarchy, if it wishes to expand the Service and their current contracts; with a view to ensuring that income is 
equitable, sufficient and sustainable and that risks are shared equally amongst the contracted organisations.

P
age 134



Southampton City Council Internal Audit Service is performed in compliance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (PSIAS). Compliance to the standard was externally assessed in May 2018. P a g e  | 19

Assure

Alert

Advise

Progress Report 2017/18 Update 30th May to July 18th 2018

Project Name Hub Opinion
No. 

Critical 
Risk

No. 
High 
Risk

No. 
Medium 

Risk

No. 
Low 
Risk

Summary of high risk exceptions

DBO – Disaster Recovery 
Business Continuity

Operations Limited Assurance

- 4 - - Four high risk exceptions relating to the current 
DR contact not encompassing all systems and 
there being a gap between service IT 
expectations within their business continuity 
plans and what is provided in an emergency 
under the DR contract. Furthermore, there is no 
finalised business continuity plan for Digital and 
Business operations and the cyber security policy 
does not set out how the authority would deal 
with a cyber security incident should it occur.

C&F – Out of City Placements 
Special Education Needs

Operations Limited Assurance

- 3 - - Three high risk exceptions relating to there being 
no current EHC Plan for 3/10 pupils, no policy or 
guidance for identifying how placement 
payments are split across budgets and the ability 
for creditors to bypass the SEND team’s check 
for accuracy before payment of placement 
invoices.

F&C - Financial Management

Strategy
Reasonable 
Assurance

- - - 2 No high risk exceptions.

F&C - Annual Governance 
Statement

Strategy
Reasonable 
Assurance

- - 1 - No high risk exceptions.

P
age 135



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes Of Previous Meeting (Including Matters Arising)
	5 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION, DATA PROTECTION & REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACTS: ANNUAL REVIEW 2017-18
	6 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR 2017/18
	Appendix 1 - Schedule of Amendments to Financial Statements 2017/18

	7 Annual Governance Statement 2017-18
	Enc. 2 for Annual Governance Statement 2017-18

	8 External Audit - Audit Results
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	SO14 3QB
	A. Financial Statements and Financial Records
	B. Non-compliance with law and regulations, including fraud
	1. We acknowledge that we are responsible to determine that the Council’s activities are conducted in accordance with laws and regulations and that we are responsible to identify and address any non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations, including fraud.


	9 Annual Internal Audit Opinion 2017-18
	Enc. 1 for Annual Internal Audit Opinion 2017-18


